

UPPSALA UNIVERSITET

Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine **1326**

Exploitation of University-Based Healthcare Innovations

The Behaviors of Three Key Actors and Influencing Factors

ANDERS BRANTNELL





ACTA UNIVERSITATIS UPSALIENSIS UPPSALA 2017

ISSN 1651-6206 ISBN 978-91-554-9892-4 urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-317934 Dissertation presented at Uppsala University to be publicly examined in Auditorium Minus, Museum Gustavianum, Akademigatan 3, Uppsala, Thursday, 1 June 2017 at 13:00 for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Faculty of Medicine). The examination will be conducted in English. Faculty examiner: Docent Kerstin Roback (Linköpings universitet, Institutionen för medicin och hälsa).

Abstract

Brantnell, A. 2017. Exploitation of University-Based Healthcare Innovations. The Behaviors of Three Key Actors and Influencing Factors. *Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine* 1326. 80 pp. Uppsala: Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis. ISBN 978-91-554-9892-4.

Large resources are invested in healthcare research, but despite this there is a wide gap between research knowledge and healthcare practice. Implementation researchers have addressed this gap, focusing mostly on the role of healthcare practitioners. However, a narrow focus on implementation does not take into consideration the preceding stages and the roles of different actors during the whole innovation process, which starts from research and ends with implementation. The aim of this thesis is to examine the behaviors of three key actors during an innovation process and to explore the influence of selected contextual factors on their behavior.

Study I (n=10 funders) identifies several facilitative roles for funders and suggests that implementation risks becoming no one's responsibility as the funders identify six different actors responsible for implementation, the majority of whom embody a collective or an organization. Study II finds that the implementation knowledge of Swedish funding managers (n=18) is mostly based on experience-based knowledge. The majority of the funding managers define implementation as a process and express limited knowledge of implementation. The findings of Study III (n=4 innovation cases) show that the roles and involvement of academic inventors and ISAs (innovation-supporting actors) are more connected to intellectual property (IP) nature than to intellectual property rights (IPR) ownership. Study IV (n=4 innovation cases) identifies three different logics that influence the behavior of academic inventors: market, academic and care logics. A pattern emerges where the behavior of academic inventors is guided by a unique logic and there is no interaction between logics, despite the existence of multiple logics. The individual strategies to handle multiple logics coincide with the influence of logics. In addition, IP nature, distinguishing between high-tech and low-tech innovations, is connected to the influence of institutional logics: low-tech connected to the care logic and hightech connected to the market logic.

This thesis has three main theoretical and practical implications relevant for practitioners, policymakers and researchers. First, implementation responsibility is an important issue to study and discuss, because without clearly defined responsibilities and management of responsibilities, responsibility might become no one's responsibility. Second, the finding that experience-based implementation knowledge contributes heavily to policymakers' knowledge encourages further studies and discussions regarding this relatively neglected issue. Third, the importance of IP nature in shaping innovation processes should be considered and further examined, not only as a factor influencing inventors and ISAs' roles and involvement, but also as influencing the prevalence of different institutional logics. Further, the relevance of a distinction between low-tech and high-tech IP should be reflected on.

Keywords: implementation responsibility, research funder, implementation knowledge, commercialization of science, university ownership, inventor ownership, institutional logics, medical technology

Anders Brantnell, Department of Women's and Children's Health, Akademiska sjukhuset, Uppsala University, SE-75185 Uppsala, Sweden.

© Anders Brantnell 2017

ISSN 1651-6206 ISBN 978-91-554-9892-4 urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-317934 (http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-317934)

To my wife and children – You are my sun

List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Brantnell, A., Baraldi, E., van Achterberg, T., Winblad, U. (2015) Research funders' roles and perceived responsibilities in relation to the implementation of clinical research results: a multiple case study of Swedish research funders. *Implementation Science*, 10(100).
- II Brantnell, A., Baraldi, E., van Achterberg, T. A Qualitative Exploration of Research Funding Managers' Implementation Knowledge. *Manuscript*.
- III Brantnell, A., Baraldi, E. The roles and involvement of academic inventors and innovation supporting actors in universitybased innovation processes: The influence of IPR ownership and IP nature. *Manuscript*.
- IV Brantnell, A., Baraldi, E. Unique Logics despite Institutional Complexity: An Inductive Study of Academic Inventors and Institutional Logics. *Manuscript*.

Reprints were made with permission from the respective publishers.

Contents

Introduction	9
Healthcare and healthcare research	9
Identifying issues that can impact implementation outside the	
healthcare context	.12
Overall aim and research questions	.13
Disposition	.13
Background	.15
The innovation process	.15
Implementation of healthcare research results	.18
The role of facilitation in implementation	.19
Research funders	.21
Researchers and academic inventors	.22
Behavior analyzed through institutional logics	.23
Innovation supporting actors	.25
IP nature and IPR ownership as economic institutions influencing	
behavior	.25
Study aims	.28
Methods	.29
Design	.31
Respondents	.32
Data collection	.33
Study I	.33
Study II	.34
Studies III and IV	.34
Data analysis	.37
Study I	.37
Study II	.37
Study III	.37
Study IV	.38
Results	.39
Study I: Research funders' roles and perceived responsibilities in	
relation to the implementation of clinical research results: A multiple	
case study of Swedish research funders	.39

Study II: A qualitative exploration of research funding managers'	12
Study III: The roles and involvement of academic inventors and	.42
innovation supporting actors in university based innovation processes	
The influence of IDD expression and ID nature.	12
Study IV. Unique locies despite institutional complexity. An industria	.43
Study IV: Unique logics despite institutional complexity: An inductive	
study of academic inventors and institutional logics	.44
Discussion	.48
Summary of findings	.48
Research funders' roles in implementation and responsibility for	
implementation	.49
Research funding managers' implementation knowledge	.50
Influence of IPR ownership and IP nature on roles and involvement of	
academic inventors and ISAs	.52
Academic inventors and their practices analyzed through institutional	
logics	53
Theoretical and Practical Implications	.55
Responsibility for implementation	.55
Implementation knowledge	.57
IP nature in explaining inventors' and ISAs' behavior and institutional	
logics	.59
Methodological considerations.	.60
Further research	.63
Conclusions	64
Concresions	.01
Acknowledgements	.66
References	.68

Introduction

"One thing that is certain is that if the thing is good enough nothing in the world will stop it. I mean all good applications or products or thingies are going to be used. There is no wastage [in the system], but on the other hand a lot of new things are produced, for instance, boxes that blink and honk and sensors and stuff that no one has asked for." (*Swedish research funder1*)

"[W]e have our representatives of the healthcare system [in the Board], and they will hopefully absorb some of the discussion and the results we have and take them forward. But it [utilize and implement the results] is not a task for them [the Board or the funding organization]." (*Swedish research funder2*)

"[R]esponsibility to implement clinical research, it should actually be the county councils? But I don't think that they feel like that. I mean, I have never heard these kinds of questions [who is responsible for implementation] and I have been a director in healthcare for a very long time, and I have never heard that this question [responsibility for implementation] would have been raised in any of the director groups at the county council." (*Swedish research funder3*)

Healthcare and healthcare research

The three citations above,¹ all from Swedish healthcare research funders, highlight two central issues in patient care and healthcare research, namely: 1) some perceive that implementation² is not a problem, if there is a good treatment available it will be implemented, and 2) it is unclear who actually is responsible for implementation of new treatments. The first issue becomes problematic in a context where there is a gap between the provided care and the recommended care. The existence of this kind of "knowledge-practice gap" is well documented in several studies and countries. For instance, Grol (1) reported that roughly one out of three patients in the Netherlands did not receive recommended care. Likewise, McGlynn et al. (2) stated that in the US only 55% of patients received the recommended care.

¹ The citations are from one of the studies included in this thesis and illustrate also two foundational aspects that guided this thesis work.

² Implementation as a concept will be presented in the Background section: Implementation of healthcare research results. For now it will be enough to state that implementation is the planned introduction of new evidence in healthcare practice.

(3) found that only 64% of Danish patients with acute coronary syndromes, diagnosed with diabetes, received the recommended care. Open comparisons of care conducted between county councils in Sweden show that women with osteoporotic fracture do not receive medication in accordance with the latest recommendations (4). Further, in a systematic review, Hulscher et al. (5) reported that there was a 50% overuse of antibiotics. Hand hygiene is still inadequate in several countries and at healthcare organizations, although the risks, of not washing hands, are known (6–10). So, given these examples and many others, implementation does not seem to take place automatically when a recommended treatment or procedure is available. In contrast, I noticed when I was involved in planning implementation of results from an applied research program that several involved actors seemed to think that implementation takes place automatically. This observation increased my scientific curiosity.

What about the other issue that was raised above, namely the lack of responsibility? My background in political science sensitized me towards thinking in terms of responsibility, when evaluating roles and tasks different actors are assumed to undertake. I noticed several interesting phenomena before becoming a PhD student: 1) many researchers, who in Sweden own the intellectual property rights (IPR) for their research, i.e., the research results, seemed to distance themselves from responsibility to implement, thinking that their role is to conduct research only, 2) the Swedish Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen), who produce clinical guidelines, lacked implementation strategies, claiming that implementation of guidelines is the responsibility of each healthcare provider, 3) the innovation supporting actors, such as Uppsala University Innovation at my own university, claimed that the initiative is with researchers who should be the key drivers, and 4) healthcare practitioners I encountered often perceived that they implement everything that is needed. Consequently, the involved actors identified, at least partly, different actors as responsible for implementation, and perceived responsibility in different ways, for instance, researchers perceived that their role was to conduct research only. This issue deserves further attention as the IPR ownership statute in Sweden gives a lot responsibility to researchers, by granting them the ownership of research results (11).

Besides political science, the management literature also emphasizes responsibility; in implementation, as in any other project, a reasonable assumption is that there is someone who is responsible for the execution of the project, i.e., responsible for implementation (12–15). Without an actor defined as responsible for implementation, one could assume that the project would not be carried out in a proper way (16–18). Could uncertainty regarding responsibility be one aspect that contributes to the knowledge-practice gap?

Previous research on implementation provides little guidance concerning this. The focus has mainly been on the clinical context and the role of the healthcare professionals, such as the general practitioners (GP) (19-22) and nurses (10,23-25). For instance, Cabana et al. (19) identified seven categories of barriers to GPs' use of clinical guidelines, such as lack of awareness, lack of self-efficacy, and lack of outcome expectancy. However, the barriers did not include the responsibility for implementation (19). In addition to GPs' and nurses' roles, the different elements that constitute the innovation³ /guideline/evidence that is to be implemented have been thoroughly scrutinized and well summarized in a review by Greenhalgh et al. (26) on the implementation of innovations in service organizations. For instance, elements, such as relative advantage, trialability, complexity, and reinvention were identified among factors to influence implementation outcomes (26). Greenhalgh et al. (26) also reviewed the impact of factors external to the innovation. For instance, they found that organizations with decentralized decision making structures and organizational leadership's support and involvement in implementation contributed to successful implementation (26). These factors do not explicitly address responsibility but raise factors (i.e., decision making and leadership), which can be assumed to require allocation of responsibility (15,27).

Summarizing barriers and facilitators to implementation in general, Flottorp et al. (28) provide a state of the art review, and identify seven levels of barriers and facilitators to implementation: 1) guideline, 2) health professional, 3) patient, 4) professional interaction, 5) incentives and resources, 6) capacity for organizational change, and 7) social, political and legal issues. In general the seven factors give centrality to the healthcare context,⁴ assuming that the factors that either hinder or facilitate implementation are to be found in that context (28). Responsibility for implementation is not explicitly addressed among the seven factors, but related issues such as leadership's involvement are included under the factor capacity for organizational change (28). To summarize, existing research on barriers and facilitators have not explicitly acknowledged responsibility issues and the main focus has been on the healthcare context and the healthcare personnel.

³ A distinction between innovation and invention is made in this thesis, where invention is depicted as the output from academic research whereas innovation is the further development of the invention into an exploitable product/method/treatment actually adopted by users. In this thesis innovation is also depicted as a process but in those instances the phrasing "innovation process" is used (See Background: the innovation process).

⁴ The factor identifying social, political and legal level barriers is the only factor focusing on aspects outside the healthcare context. This factor raises issues related to the economic and political context, but studies acknowledging this level of barriers are few, and the actors behind the issues are not recognized

Identifying issues that can impact implementation outside the healthcare context

A direct consequence of the "healthcare centrality" and the focus on healthcare personnel in understanding barriers and facilitators to implementation of innovations in healthcare is that a complete picture cannot be obtained, as all steps leading to implementation and all actors influencing implementation before implementation are not included. Thus, a larger process, called an innovation process, is needed where implementation is only one aspect and often the final period in the process (12). In terms of actors, there are several actors that could influence implementation during the innovation process, such as governments, non-governmental organizations, philanthropic organizations, regulatory agencies, such as the Medical Products Agency in Sweden or the Food and Drug Administration in the US, clinical guideline producing agencies, such as the Swedish Board of Health and Welfare or the NICE in the UK, companies manufacturing parts that are needed in the healthcare innovations, and companies interested to refine and implement innovations.

Despite the importance of all these actors for innovation and implementation, this thesis will focus on three influential actors whose roles are not well understood: research funders, researchers/academic inventors,⁵ and innovation supporting actors. Through their strategic position, these actors can play important roles in innovation processes. Common to these three actors is that they are interconnected: research funders make decisions that impact researchers (e.g., provide or decline grant applications and decide the type of research funded) and also implementation possibilities (e.g., facilitate or hinder implementation), whereas researchers need to follow the guidelines prescribed by the funders, for instance, concerning grant applications and reporting. In sum, research funders provide the preconditions for research and can influence implementation. Also, researchers and innovation supporting actors are connected to each other: innovation supporting actors provide support to researchers who try to commercialize research findings. In certain cases, the innovation supporting actors could also be the key drivers in innovation processes as is the case in the US where they, in general, own the IPR to university-based innovations.

Regardless of the role of the innovation supporting actors, they are dependent on the tacit knowledge that the researchers possess, and cannot drive innovation processes without the input from researchers. Consequently, these three actors are interwoven and constitute a set of actors that can have

⁵ The focus is on academic inventors, which however are also researchers during specific periods, such as during the research period and during early steps in exploitation of intellectual property. Against this background two terms, academic inventor and researcher, are used interchangeably until they are specified in the Background section.

key roles in innovation processes. All these actors come in contact with different factors, such as implementation responsibility, ownership of IPR and institutional logics that can influence the actors' behavior. Studies I and II deal with research funders and explore their roles, views on responsibility and knowledge of implementation. Studies III and IV, deal with academic inventors and innovation supporting actors focusing on their roles and practices. Further in Studies III and IV, the influence of three factors on academic inventors and innovation supporting actors' behavior is examined: IPR ownership, intellectual property (IP) nature and institutional logics. The thesis is multidisciplinary and includes theories, frameworks, concepts, and methods from several scientific fields, such as implementation science, management science, organizational science, economics, and political science. The thesis seeks to make both theoretical and empirical contributions to two main fields: implementation science and innovation management, and through this bring these two closer to each other.

Overall aim and research questions

The overall aim of this thesis is two-folded:

(A) to examine the behaviors of the three actors, i.e., research funders, academic inventors and innovation supporting actors during an innovation process, and

(B) to explore the influence of certain contextual factors (i.e., responsibility for implementation, implementation knowledge, IPR ownership, IP nature and institutional logics) on actors' behavior.

To address the aims, the following research questions were posed: Which behaviors, instantiated through their roles and their practices, do the actors display during the innovation process? and in which way do the specific contextual factors (i.e., responsibility for implementation, implementation knowledge, IPR ownership, IP nature and institutional logics) influence the behaviors of the three actors?

Disposition

The thesis is organized as follows: The background section describes in detail the concepts, theories, and issues that this thesis builds on. *First*, the innovation process is described and discussed. *Second*, implementation of healthcare research results and the role of facilitation is elucidated and problematized. *Third*, research funders' roles in implementation are described and the existing research is outlined, together with the identification of gaps in existing knowledge. *Fourth*, academic inventors' roles in implementation are described and the institutional logics perspective in explaining behavior is introduced. *Fifth*, innovation supporting actors' roles in innovation are described and the existing research is discussed. Moreover, two aspects (i.e., IP nature and IPR ownership) that influence academic inventors and innovation supporting actors' behavior are introduced and discussed. After this, the methods applied in each study are presented, followed by results. The thesis will end by discussing the main findings, theoretical and practical implications, methodological issues and identifying avenues for further research.

Background

The innovation process

Innovation can be a service, a product or a policy that the users perceive as new. To this end, an innovation can be something old but when presented in a new context it becomes new (12,29,30). Innovation can also be the process that leads to the outcome (12,29), which is, for instance, a new product. A distinction between innovation as a process and innovation as an outcome has been made in previous literature (31). There is however, little agreement among scholars about the terms that are used to define innovation outcomes and many scholars fail to define innovation, although focusing explicitly on it (31,32). In one review it was noted that of 21 studies on product innovation. 15 different constructs were used to describe similar innovation outcomes, including product uniqueness, product superiority, and product complexity (32). In general, innovation studies have deployed different typologies of innovations as different innovations have different characteristics: product vs. process innovations (33-35), administrative/organizational vs. technical innovations (36,37), and radical vs. incremental innovations (38-40). Studies examining one type of innovation have often focused on radical innovations (41-43), which revolutionizes the practice on the user side.

However, whether or not an innovation is radical is usually only revealed through comparison. For instance, coblation technology for tonsillectomy, which can mold tissue at low temperatures (around 60°C) causing little damage, could be seen as an incremental innovation (i.e., providing some new aspects) when compared to electrosurgery, which heats up the tissue to high temperatures (around 400°C) causing more tissue damage (44). On the other hand, when the coblation technology for tonsillectomy (44) is compared to cold-knife surgery, where the tonsils are removed with a scalpel without heating up the tissue (45) the coblation technology could be seen as a radical innovation. Indeed, web-based mental healthcare programs (46), could be characterized as radical innovations when compared to the existing practice where the therapist meets the patient to provide care, but as an incremental innovation when compared to other web-based self-management programs (47). Further, a distinction between administrative and technical innovations has been made, where technical innovations are connected to a certain technology such as a product, whereas administrative innovations are connected to non-technological innovations, such as organizational policies (36). Despite this distinction, many recognize that the definitions are not mutually exclusive as technological and administrative innovations are often dependent on each other (12,48,49).

Scholars who have examined innovation as a process have focused on two different aspects: understanding conditions for innovation processes (50-54) and identifying characteristics in innovation processes (12,29,55). Trying to understand conditions for successful innovation processes, Axtell et al. (53) studied how certain personal and organizational characteristics influence innovation processes, whereas Obstfeld (52) examined how social networks and brokers in automotive industry predict involvement in innovation processes. Edquist & Johnson (54) focus on national innovation systems and how institutions in general, both formal and informal, influence innovation processes. The second line of research focuses on the innovation process itself and tries to understand the process and its implications. Characteristic for innovation processes in such studies is that there are different steps or phases in the process (12,29,56). Although understanding of innovation as a linear process, where either technology push or market pull is driving the process, has evolved to a more complex understanding of innovation as an interactive and non-linear process (57), few models exist which focus entirely on the innovation process.

One exception is van de Ven et al. (12), who try to disentangle what an innovation process is and how it evolves. According to van de Ven et al. (12) an innovation process is a messy, non-linear process where different aspects might be repeated, and the process is difficult to predict. Despite this, there are three general periods that most of the innovation processes go through: 1) initiation period, 2) development period and 3) implementation period. Moreover, these periods include several aspects that are often present in all innovation processes (12). (Figure 1). However, van de Ven et al. (12) did not specifically study innovations originating from university research, and thus the innovation process model depicted in Figure 1, might not provide complete guidance for the periods and the relevant aspects regarding university research.



Figure 1. The innovation process (Freely adapted from van de Ven et al., 1999)

For instance, researchers probably spend less time on development than companies when trying to refine the innovation, whereas they probably spend more time on research than companies do. Clarysse & Moray (56) focus on team formation surrounding a research-based spinout, tracing the innovation process from idea generation to post startup phase. This process model includes four stages: 1) idea, 2) pre-startup, 3) startup, and 4) poststartup stage, where the stages follow each other. Consequently, the model is quite linear in contrast to the model of van de Ven et al. (12), which is a nonlinear model. Moreover, the Clarysse & Moray (56) model does not cover the whole innovation process, from idea generation to introduction of new products. Clarysse et al. (58) building on Clarysse & Moray (56) developed a model, depicting the activities undertaken during a research-based innovation process, and identified six foundational activities: 1) opportunity search, 2) IP assessment and protection, 3) strategic choice of how to commercialize the innovation, 4) business plan development, 5) funding process, and 6) control of the spinout company (Figure 2). According to Clarysse et al. (58) their model is depicted as a linear model, but in reality the process might be less linear.

The Clarysse et al. (58) model labeled as the "spin out funnel" starts from the viewpoint of university administrators and Technology Transfer Offices (TTOs), where the first activity is to identify opportunities (i.e., inventions) that could be commercialized. As the model starts from the viewpoint of administrators and TTOs it does not cover, for instance, the activities of researchers and their role in the innovation process, and thus at the moment the existing models can only depict certain aspects in research-based innovation processes. Moreover, there are no innovation models that have focused only on healthcare innovations depicting the phases for university-based healthcare innovations, which is nonetheless less troubling as many innovation processes can be assumed to contain the same elements, regardless of the field (12).



Figure 2. The spin-out funnel (adopted from Clarysse et al., 2005, p.187)

Implementation of healthcare research results

Implementation is the last phase in the innovation process, which ends the process either through acceptance or rejection of the innovation (12). According to van de Ven et al. (12), implementation is a process where activities are undertaken to introduce the innovation in the market and diffuse it to end-users. During this process, the innovation is adapted to the existing organizational context, and in some ways the "new" replaces the "old." Grol and Wensing (59) in turn, define implementation as a structured and planned process where systematic introduction of innovations, proven better than the existing treatments, is undertaken with an aim to make the innovation an integrated part of the healthcare practice. For Rogers (29) implementation takes place when someone introduces the innovation in a using context and for this to happen behavior change is required. Rogers (29), being a pioneer in studying the diffusion of innovations and publishing the first edition of his Diffusion of Innovations already in 1962 (60), was early to acknowledge the need for behavior change when introducing innovations. This aspect has become a cornerstone in implementation research and nowadays, it is well established among implementation researchers that for the new to replace the old, behavior change is required, which is often cumbersome (61-64).

In detail, existing behavior is determined, for instance, by certain routines, beliefs, attitudes, knowledge, and self-efficacy, and introducing new ways of doing things often demands change in existing behavior (65). For instance, self-efficacy concerns the perceived capability to carry out a specific human behavior, being an influential determinant for the intention to act (66). If a healthcare practitioner is to change his/her behavior by applying a new guideline in patient care, he or she needs to have confidence in his/her ability to apply the guideline (66). In order to increase self-efficacy a specific strategy such as social modelling that can be used to increase self-efficacy is required (67). A practical application of social modelling could be a video film modelling the desired behavior (66). Likewise, if the factor influencing existing practice is lack of knowledge, a similar procedure as with selfefficacy is required to develop an intervention that aims to change knowledge (66). Therefore, changing existing behavior can be depicted as complex and cumbersome (64,66).

The role of facilitation in implementation

Rogers (29) was also early to identify the need for facilitation in implementation, and defined change agents as one type of facilitator. Change agents play different roles during the innovation process, such as providing information and arguments supporting the need for change, and especially during implementation, providing assistance to the implementer. For Rogers (29), the change agents were central during the innovation process. This concept of a change agent is close to what Fixsen et al. (68) defined as a purveyor, which is a type of facilitator that tries to contribute to the introduction of the innovation. This concept (i.e., purveyor) was identified in a broad review of research concerning implementation, including areas such as medicine, manufacturing and mental health, in order to provide an overview of the existing research and identify factors influencing successful implementation (68). In their review, Fixsen et al. (68) defined implementation as a process containing several activities where the goal is to introduce an evidencebased, well defined program/guideline or innovation in practice. During this process the purveyor has an important role to play in helping the organizations to implement new practices (68).

The PARiHS framework (69) depicts facilitation and facilitators as one of the foundational pillars in the framework. In the PARiHS framework, facilitators – either internal or external to the organization – work with organizations to provide advice and guidance concerning implementation. The required capabilities and skills of the facilitator depend on the organizational capabilities and skills already in place (69). In an updated version of the PARiHS framework (i-PARiHS) facilitation is given a central role and perceived as the active component in the framework that determines the success or failure of implementation (70). Building on the facilitation definition from the PARiHS framework Baskerville et al. (71) reviewed studies on practice facilitation in primary care and found that primary care organizations using practice facilitation were 2.76 times more likely to implement guidelines than primary care organizations without practice facilitation. Altogether 44 studies met the inclusion criteria which imply that practice facilitation is well covered in previous research. On the other hand, in nursing no systematic

reviews about facilitation as described by the PARiHS framework exist, but Dogherty et al. (72) conducted a focused literature review and noticed that several definitions are used, portraying facilitation both as a process and an individual role. According to Dogherty et al. (72), these different ways to treat facilitation make it difficult to appreciate whether or not facilitation is an effective way to support implementation. Facilitation is also one of the basic methods defined in the Taxonomy of Behavior Change Methods (TBCM). Here facilitation is not a key concept, but rather one of the methods that can be used to change certain behaviors. Furthermore, in the TBCM facilitation aims to create an environment that makes a certain behavior easier and the facilitator is someone who undertakes facilitation and applies methods from the TBCM (65).

In addition to facilitation, practice facilitation, and facilitation as a behavior change method, there are at least three other concepts that focus on facilitation: educational outreach visitors (73), local opinion leaders (74), and lead users (75). Educational outreach visitors (also called university-based educational detailing, academic detailing or educational visiting) are external to the healthcare context and are trained persons/consultants who visit a practitioner's office to provide guidance on specific aspects, such as implementation of new treatments (73). O'Brien et al. (73) conducted a review concerning the research on educational outreach visitors including 69 studies, and found that this strategy is somewhat effective in influencing prescribing of medication with small, but consistent effects (around 5% improvement in performance) whereas the strategy's effect on practitioners' overall performance varied between 4% and 16%.

Local opinion leaders in turn, act within the healthcare context and can influence colleagues' behavior, because they are likable and respected by others (74). Flodgren et al. (76) conducted a systematic review including 18 studies, and found that local opinion leaders can influence the implementation of new treatments in general (12% improvement in the intervention group). However, in general the activities of local opinion leaders were not stringently defined and thus it is difficult to provide recommendations regarding how this strategy could be optimized (76).

To summarize, previous research has employed several concepts of facilitation where some of them have received more interest than others, and some have been more rigorously defined than others. In general facilitation, i.e., providing guidance and support to implementation of innovations could be a viable strategy to improve implementation outcomes. However, less is known about which role facilitation, taking place during the whole innovation process, could play, especially during the early phases of an innovation process.

Lead users are one type of actors that can influence the innovation process before implementation, and thus differ from education outreach visitors and local opinion leaders in two crucial ways: lead users are users of innovations that are going to be implemented, and they focus their activities on innovation development (77). Lead users are users that embody the needs of the many, but express these needs several years before others and are eager to get access to new technology (78). To this end, identifying lead users and engaging them in product development, can increase the likelihood of successful innovation outcomes (79). According to my knowledge, no systematic reviews exist concerning the effects of lead users, but several studies have acknowledged the benefits of engaging lead users, mostly in high-tech but also in low-tech product development (79–82). However, although facilitative towards companies, the lead user activities are focused only on one period in innovation processes, namely the product development period.

In order to address the possible facilitation during the whole innovation process, I define innovation as: 1) as a process that comprises several periods during which a research-based innovation is created and introduced in healthcare, 2) as a process where the activities (either facilitating or hindering) of the key actors, undertaken during each period accumulate, influencing the innovation outcomes, and 3) as an outcome where the end goal is implementation but where rejection could take place providing opportunities to re-design and refine the innovation. This broad definition of innovation, comprising three integral parts, embodies both the process aspect and the outcome aspect, which both are integral parts of innovations as claimed already by Schumpeter (83). Furthermore, this broad definition of innovation does not focus on implementation, but rather includes all actions taken during the innovation process to appreciate the various actors' influence on the innovation process outcomes, but at the same time acknowledges that implementation, although desirable, does not need to be the end of the innovation process. Moreover, the innovation process is not depicted as a stepwise process, but rather as a process comprising several periods as suggested by van de Ven et al. (12).

Next, the three actors that this thesis focuses on, and the factors that can influence their behavior are introduced. Each of these actors can function as potential facilitators but can also hinder the innovation process in a number of ways.

Research funders

Research funders provide the preconditions for research, by allocating grants and stipulating requirements to obtain grants (84). The role of funders has traditionally been the management of grants, but recently their roles have evolved, and they have been perceived as one type of actor that can facilitate, i.e., support the process whereby research results are translated into clinical practice and implemented (85). Interest in research funders is still emerging, but previous studies have recognized several facilitative roles of funders: 1) demanding consideration of implementation as a requirement for funding (86), 2) stimulating cooperation between users and researchers (87,88), 3) promoting use of research results (89,90), and 4) being involved in implementation (86,91). Implementation scholars' interest in research funders' possible facilitation in relation to implementation emerged when funders and governments noticed that resources invested in research did not match improvements in public health (89,91). However, previous studies often limit themselves to cases of single funders (87,89–91), or consist of broad international comparisons with focus on providing overviews (92,93). There is a lack of studies that systematically and in-depth investigate the research funders' roles during the innovation process.

If research funders are able to shoulder the facilitative roles, it is reasonable to assume that they should have some kind of understanding of implementation, such as who is responsible for implementation. As stated earlier, responsibility issues have not received explicit attention in implementation research, in spite of the theoretical relevance of this issue and empirical support from different fields, such as political science and management (15,18). Also implementation knowledge is relatively unexplored as implementation research is focused on generating knowledge that can be used to plan, conduct and evaluate implementation efforts (94). However, little is known about whether or not policymakers who work with implementation are aware of the implementation research output. Research funders are one type of policymakers that could benefit from knowledge of implementation research output, when undertaking facilitative roles in relation to implementation, but at the same time findings from policy research indicate that there is a "knowledge-policy gap," meaning that application of research output in policymaking is inadequate (95,96). On the other hand, actors might acquire knowledge through practical experience (97-99) making the formal knowledge from research less important. Studies I and II focus on Swedish research funders' roles, perceptions of responsibility for implementation and knowledge of implementation. Study II also aims to develop the theoretical understanding concerning policymakers' implementation knowledge.

Researchers and academic inventors

Academic inventors are university researchers, who have invented something through their research, and wish to contribute to the exploitation of their findings. Researchers are active in the early moments, regarding research idea, applying for funds, and conducting research, but they can also be involved during later stages, and become academic inventors, taking on distinct roles, such as brokers and technical consultants (100–102). Despite this initial interest in academic inventors, the knowledge about their roles

during innovation processes, and their motivations to be involved have received little attention. Researchers can, at least theoretically, have important roles after the research period, and perhaps during implementation as they have knowledge regarding the invention that presumably no one else has (103). This type of tacit knowledge is crucial for IP exploitation, as the university-based inventions often are embryonic requiring development (102). On the other hand, there is a growing literature concerning academic entrepreneurship, where academic inventors start a spinoff company and become involved in commercialization (104-108). However, the roles played by academic inventors in innovation processes have not been explicitly studied. and the reasons to their involvement are not theoretically founded. One recurrent theory to explain actors' behavior, in general, is the institutional logics approach, which builds on neo-institutional theory, where all behavior is constrained and understood in the light of surrounding institutions (109,110). In addition to institutional logics, two types of formal institutions that the academic inventors are exposed to are regulations concerning IPR ownership, i.e., who owns the research results (111) and IP nature, i.e., the patentability and the type of the invention (112). These two issues will be explored later in this thesis.

Behavior analyzed through institutional logics

From an institutional logics perspective, academic inventors are conditioned by different logics when they are involved in commercialization of IP based on university research (113). Institutional logics comprise the socially formed patterns of material practices, routines and rules, used to comprehend and form the material reality (114). As such, institutional logics can provide boundaries, for instance, for decision making and rationality (115), often reflected in the actors' practices (116). In settings with multiple institutional logics, such as academic inventing, several logics are assumed to influence behavior (113), and thus behavior becomes complex (110,117). Previous studies, focusing on commercialization of IP, based on university research have revolved around two logics: the academic logic and the market logic, often considered to be in conflict (113,118-122). However, the focus has been on the early steps in the innovation process (i.e., licensing and patenting) concerning high-tech IP (118,123–125), which implies that a complete picture of academic inventing has not been obtained. For instance, the role of the academic logic might be overstated, as the focus has been on the early steps. In detail, during the early steps the academic logic could be prevalent, as the academic inventor is connected to the university, whereas during later steps the academic inventor, trying to commercialize the IP, is not tightly connected to the university, and hence other logics might become prevalent.

Academic inventing includes multiple logics, where several logics influence the behavior of organizations and individual actors (126). Some findings indicate that the existence of two or several logics leads to conflict, where one of the logics prevails (114,127–130), others argue that several logics can coexist and shift in relevance (131–135), whereas some perceive that multiple logics are either detrimental for organizations (136) or provide the basis for their existence (137). Besharov and Smith (138) developed a framework that can be used to understand the heterogeneous outcomes in settings with multiple logics.

Two central concepts in Besharov and Smith's (138) framework, are logic compatibility and logic centrality. Here, compatibility refers to the degree the logics are compatible and reinforcing, and centrality examines whether or not there is a core logic that influences behavior. Besharov and Smith's (138) framework was developed to assess the influence of logics on organizational outcomes, which is not surprising, as organizations and organizational outcomes for long have been central in the institutional logics literature (114,127,128,137,139,140). However, the original aim with the institutional logics perspective was to focus both on organizations and individuals (109). Focus on individuals is warranted as they are in the frontline of organizations, making decisions under institutional complexity (115,141,142). Recent research has addressed individuals' strategies to deal with multiple logics, but scholars have not made the connection between influence of logics and strategies. Further the investigated strategies have concerned highly professionalized fields where actors are organization-bound, i.e., anchored to an existing organization (131,134,135).

Research focusing on individual strategies to deal with multiple logics has identified three main strategies: segmenting or compartmentalizing (115,117,134,143,144), bridging (134,136,143), and demarcating (134). These strategies assume that there is a conflict between two or more logics. which however does not mean that the logics could not cooperate. Segmenting is one strategy, where the conflicting logics are separated, for instance, by space: in the trade floor underwriters wear suits and ties to echo the community logic, whereas in their office they are more informally dressed, echoing the market logic (134). Bridging is another strategy, which stipulates that conflicting logics can complement each other, for instance, in building a new organizational form the market logic was combined with a non-profit logic (136). Indeed, all organizations and individuals that combine two or more logics in their activities, for instance, the market logic and the welfare logic, face trending towards one of the logics, which in turn endangers organizational existence (145). Demarcating is one strategy to deal with the dangers of combining several logics, through a process that sets soft boundaries and guarantees that none of the logics is over emphasized (134).

In addition to the explicit strategies of segmenting, bridging and demarcating, Pache and Santos (143) have drafted a framework, to explain individual responses to multiple logics, and have identified three additional strategies: ignorance, compliance and defiance. These have been implicitly exemplified in previous research (146–149). However, Pache and Santos' (143) framework focuses on individuals anchored to existing organizations, which is not optimal if the goal is to elucidate the behavior of actors' who are not tightly connected to existing organizations, such as academic inventors. Consequently, Pache and Santos' (143) framework is in line with existing research on individual strategies that predominantly focus on organization-bound actors, such as pharmacist, lawyers, underwriters, and healthcare managers (131,132,134,135). The individual strategies employed by organization-bound actors might not apply to actors that are less organization-bound, such as academic inventors. Study IV explores how academic inventors deal with the institutional complexity they face during the entire innovation process.

Innovation supporting actors

The third type of actor that this thesis focuses on, is the innovation supporting actor (ISA), a university-based actor that tries to stimulate, support, manage, and organize technology transfer in innovation processes emanating from universities (150). Examples of typical ISAs are TTOs and Incubators. Today, there is a growing literature concerning the TTOs (101,151–153), and they have been reported to be facilitators, acting as brokers (154), but also as barriers, for instance, when they do not have the capacity or skills to handle disclosures (155,156), or in case they aim to maximize income from licensing (157). To this end, previous research has found that TTOs can be either barriers or facilitators to implementation. Yet, more complex understanding of the TTOs roles is needed, for instance, to clarify under which conditions the TTOs undertake their various roles. There is also a growing literature concerning incubators (158–161), but this literature has not focused on the explicit roles of incubators, functioning under different conditions, and thus a more specific understanding of their roles would be important. Both the TTOs and incubators are generally active during the technology transfer process where the research-based IP is transferred to a third party. If the third party is a university spinoff company, the incubators might have facilitative roles, such as supporting the inventor to create a business (162,163), but if the third party is an established company this kind of specific support might not be required.

IP nature and IPR ownership as economic institutions influencing behavior

As mentioned above, institutional logics build on neo-institutional theory, which studies the impact of both formal and informal institutions on behav-

ior (115). New institutional economics, in turn, takes an economic view on institutions, and uses economic theory to explain the behavior of actors in a context where economic institutions – both formal, such as rules and regulations, and informal, such as customs and codes of conduct – constitute "the rules of the game"(164,165), and entail transaction costs (166). In spite of these aspects, the focus is often on the formal institutions, such as the IPR ownership (111). The rules of the game include institutions that facilitate economic behavior and institutions that constrain it (54). For instance, if the cost of following a constraining institution, such as the obligation to disclose research results to the TTOs, is higher than the costs of avoiding it, such as a penalty for neglecting the obligation, the actor is assumed to try to avoid that institution, that is, not to disclose (164). When actors, such as academic inventors decide on their behavior such as engaging or not in a certain activity, they are assumed to consider risks, opportunity costs and future gains (112,167).

One risk in licensing academic inventions is the fact that the licensee will not pay the inventor, if dissatisfied with the actual content of the invention when this is revealed. This risk can be addressed with patent protection, a formal institution which makes clear to the licensee the exact content of the invention and shows that the invention is protected by law. Patent protection coupled with licensing contracts provide an incentive for the licensee to pay for access to the invention, and increases potential profits for the involved parties: inventor, licensee and TTO (167,168). Consequently, an institution such as protection of high-tech IPs via patents is likely to stimulate technology transfer through licensing, with some level of involvement of the inventor, motivated by possible future profits (167,169). In contrast, with nonpatentable IP of low-tech, such as copyrights, the IP protection is not equally strong. Therefore, licensing non-patentable IP becomes more difficult as the risks for the involved parties are higher than with patentable IP (170,171). Technology transfer is accordingly more likely to occur through involving academic inventors as consultants (167), although licensing of nonpatentable IP can occur in theoretical situations (170).

In general, every innovation has a certain component of tacit knowledge (103), but this component is expected to be larger for non-patentable IP. To this end, inventor involvement in licensing non-patentable IP is particularly useful, but the inventors are not motivated to be involved because of the risks with non-patentable IP (170). In contrast, a patentable IP protects inlicensing firms from imitation (172–174), and provides, at least, academic inventors with a substantial incentive for commercializing the IP (175–181), but little is known about the influence of non-patentable IP on actors, such as academic inventors and ISAs' behavior.

Another institution influencing the behavior of academic inventors is IPR ownership (111,167,182–184), which can be divided in two major regimes: university ownership and inventor ownership. In university ownership, the

gains are often shared between the university, the faculty, and the inventor, whereas in inventor ownership, the gains associated with the IP belong solely to the inventor (167). In policy circles, university ownership is often assumed to lead to economic growth (185,186), since it decreases the opportunity costs of academic inventors to involve in commercialization (185). The impact of IP ownership on the involvement of academic inventors in innovation processes is debatable with studies supporting either university ownership or inventor ownership as being the most conducive to academic inventors' involvement (111,167,187,188).

Goldfarb and Henrekson (167) compared two countries, one favoring inventor-ownership (Sweden) and one favoring university-ownership (the US). They suggest that academic inventors in Sweden, although they own the IP, do not have high incentives to be involved in commercialization. Namely in inventor ownership contexts where the profits come to the inventors, the TTOs lack incentives to be involved and thus the inventors will not receive support to commercialize and cover the patenting costs (167). Instead, the university ownership in US, which guarantees the involvement of TTOs, incentivizes academic inventors, by reducing their opportunity costs to engage in commercialization (167). Similarly, Henrekson and Rosenberg (189) argue that in an institutional context less supportive of commercialization of academic outputs, like Sweden, inventor ownership is not an incentive for inventor involvement, sufficient to overcome the opportunity costs to involvement.

In contrast, Farnstrand Damsgaard and Thursby (111) argue that even if the odds for successful commercialization are higher in the US, inventor ownership, like in Sweden, is more aligned with inventors' preferences to maximize economic utility, and will function as a strong incentive. Similarly, in their multiple case study with data from six North American universities, Kenney and Patton (187) found that inventor ownership provides more economic incentives for inventors' involvement in innovation process than university ownership. In line with this, Åstebro et al. (190) argue that inventor ownership should give incentives to academic inventors to be involved in commercialization of academic output, even if such incentive hardly turns all academics into inventors. Only 0.9% of Swedish academics become entrepreneurs annually, and of these only 1% earn more than before. Faced with these results, Åstebro et al. (190) wonder why academics choose to leave their academic positions, and risk their future income. Further, recent research on reforms transferring IPR ownership from inventors to universities, supports the idea that university ownership decreases the incentives for academic inventors to involve in commercialization (191–193). Consequently, the function of IPR ownership in innovation processes in influencing academic inventors, and other stakeholders' behavior is ambiguous. Departing from this ambiguity, Study III examines the influence of IPR ownership, but

also the influence of IP nature on the behavior of academic inventors and ISAs.

Next, the aims for the four studies that constitute this thesis are described, followed by an outline of the methods applied in each study.

Study aims

Study I: 1) identify and describe the roles of Swedish research funders, who fund clinical research and 2) analyze funders' views about implementation responsibilities and perceptions of how such responsibilities are fulfilled.

Study II: Develop a model that can explain research funding managers' implementation knowledge, and the origins of this knowledge.

Study III: Understand and explain how the roles and involvement of inventors and ISAs are connected to IPR ownership and to IP nature.

Study IV: Study how the academic inventors handle the institutional complexity they face during the entire innovation process.

Methods

As mentioned in the Introduction, I made two foundational observations, concerning implementation of healthcare research results before conducting the studies reported in this thesis: 1) some actors claim that implementation is not a problem, if there is a good treatment available, and 2) it is unclear who actually is responsible for implementation of new treatments in healthcare. These observations guided my interest to identify issues relevant to explore in the Swedish context with regard to the knowledge-practice gap, and were also brought up by the respondents in one of the studies, as the citations that introduce this thesis illustrate.

Starting with the assumption that implementation is non-problematic – a sort of automation – and acknowledging that research funders have an important position in the intersection of healthcare and research, I decided to explore whether or not research funders felt that they have roles to play during an innovation process. Finding out that the research funders identified certain facilitative roles in relation to implementation, I decided to explore which implementation knowledge these roles are based on and whether or not implementation is perceived to take place automatically. I assumed that research funders' roles and implementation knowledge might be unresolved issues as research funders roles revolve traditionally around evaluating grant proposals and funding research. To this end, I decided to conduct semi-structured interviews, instead of collecting data through a quantitative questionnaire. Further, I considered that it would be feasible to focus on research funders' perceptions, rather than following them in action because of the nature of the issues.

In order to further explore the assumption of implementation taking place automatically, I decided to study innovations emanating from university research, to appreciate the complexity of research results' journey to use in healthcare practice. When selecting innovations, I acknowledged that there is an ongoing debate about the function of the teachers' exemption in Sweden (11), which gives the IP rights to the researchers meaning that further exploitation of IP does not take place without the researchers. However, being a researcher is not the same as being an entrepreneur, which makes Sweden an interesting country to study exploitation of university-based IP. On the other hand, in the US the Bayh Dole Act (194) transferred the IPR ownership from the state to the universities in order to stimulate the exploitation of IP. This reform has been copied in several countries with a wish to stimulate the use of university-based IP. Reflecting these changes, I originally decided to select innovations, from different IPR ownership contexts, settling on Sweden (IP owned by researchers), the US (IP owned by university) and Finland (IP owned by researchers, but taken over by the university if not exploited by the researcher). However, as the process of identifying and studying innovations was very tedious, I decided to focus on two very different contexts, namely Sweden and the US. In addition to IPR ownership, I acknowledged that it is motivated to include patentable and non-patentable innovations in studying innovation processes, as the IP nature could influence actors' behavior, especially the behavior of TTOs when dealing with non-patentable innovations. Further, I was part of a context (i.e., my research group), where researchers develop non-patentable inventions. In conclusion, I selected innovations from two contexts (i.e., Uppsala and Stanford) that provided variation in IP nature.

Initially, the aim was to include several actors (such as academic inventors, ISAs, licensing companies, NGOs, and end users), and analyze their behavior and impact during the innovation process. However, after a preliminary data analysis, I noticed that the academic inventors and ISAs were highly influential actors, and decided to focus on them. Addressing the academic inventors and ISAs, who both could own the IPR, depending on the context, I was able to further explore who should exploit and implement IP. While studying academic inventors and ISAs, functioning in different IPR ownership and IP nature contexts, I noticed that there was something other than these formal institutions that heavily influenced the behavior of academic inventors. Namely, less formal institutions connected to academic inventing, manifested through specific institutional logics. Consequently, a study about the influence on academic inventors' behavior of different institutional logics was designed. This study could contribute to theory development, concerning institutional complexity and how individuals that are not organization-bound deal with the complexity.

The initial aim was to cover also decision makers, who decide on implementation of specific non-patentable innovations, namely web-based cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) programs. Little is known about which factors (such as patient, therapist, program, organization and society) influence implementation and non-implementation of web-based CBT programs. Some of the non-patentable inventions developed in my research group are webbased CBT programs, and exploring the factors influencing implementation seemed to be highly relevant for my groups' research. However, I considered that the thesis can make a stronger contribution, if the thesis is based on certain actors, and first after selection of actors the factors that influence their behavior are identified. Instead of focusing on a multitude of actors and factors the focus is on three actors: research funders, academic inventors, and ISAs, and on five issues that can be important in influencing these actors' behavior: responsibility for implementation, implementation knowledge, IPR ownership, IP nature and institutional logics.

Design

An overview of study characteristics is outlined in Table 1.

Study	Design	Respondents	Units of	Data	Data
			analysis	Collection	analysis
Ι	Comparative multiple case study	10 Swedish research funders rep- resented by 18 respond- ents	Research funding organizations	Semi- structured interviews, data from funders websites, funders annual reports and goal state- ments	Abductive explorative approach
Π	Comparative multiple case study	18 Swedish research funding managers	Research funding managers	Semi- structured interviews, data from funding managers' websites	Inductive grounded approach with six phases
III	Comparative multiple case study	38 innova- tion stake- holders	Academic inventors, ISAs and innovations	Semi- structured interviews, data from organization websites and finan- cial data- bases	Inductive proposition generating approach with seven phases
IV	Comparative multiple case study	38 innova- tion stake- holders	Academic inventors and innova- tions	Semi- structured interviews, data from organization websites and finan- cial data- bases	Inductive grounded approach with six phases

Table 1. Overview of study characteristics

Studies I-IV were comparative multiple case studies (195). In Study I the cases were selected based on funding resources, geographical scope and type of funder adhering to a maximum variation sampling strategy (196). The goal was to capture differences and similarities across different funding levels but also within same funding levels. The units of analysis were the research funding organizations.

In Study II the cases were selected based on closeness to implementation contexts and type of research funded (i.e., basic research, clinical research, or a combination of both) adhering to a maximum variation sampling strategy (196). The aim was to develop a model, based on case study observations by comparing similarities and differences among the funding managers (195,197), concerning implementation definitions, self-assessed implementation knowledge, and the factors influencing self-assessed implementation knowledge. The units of analysis were the funding managers.

In Study III the cases were selected based on theoretical sampling (197,198): *IPR ownership* reflecting both university and inventor ownership and *IP nature* reflecting patentable and non-patentable IP. In addition to these sampling aspects the goal was to capture the innovation process and thus cases needed to have proceeded from research inventions to usable innovations in healthcare practice. The aim was to develop propositions that are testable in quantitative research (197). The units of analysis were the academic inventors, the ISAs and the innovations.

In Study IV the cases were selected based on theoretical sampling (197,198): IP nature reflecting high-tech and low-tech innovations and IPR ownership reflecting university and inventor ownership. High-tech innovations are connected to clear views of how to exploit IP and thus the market logic is prevalent (123,125), whereas less is known concerning low-tech innovations. But following the same logic as with high-tech innovations, the low-tech innovations can be assumed to entail an unclear view of how to exploit IP, and thus alternative logics might become prevalent. IPR ownership in turn might influence the prevalence of institutional logics as the university ownership necessitates the involvement of TTOs and thus TTOs might bring certain logics, whereas such requirement is not present in inventor ownership where the inventor is freer to act. The aim was to develop a model concerning the behavior of academic inventors facing multiple institutional logics. The units of analysis were the academic inventors and the innovations.

Respondents

Study I consist of 10 research funding organizations that represent three levels in the research funding system: 1) national public funding, 2) national, private non-profit funding, and 3) local public funding. Respondents (n=18)

from the highest decision-making bodies in different funding organizations were included. All contacted funding organizations and their representatives agreed to participate. The inclusion criteria were: seniority and experience, and knowledge of clinical research.

Study II includes 18 research funding managers who represent three types of funding organizations: 1) "far from implementation," as these organizations belong to the central governmental apparatus in Sweden, and fund primarily basic research, 2) "closer to implementation," as these funders, typically private foundations, operate in closer contact with specific clinical fields, and fund both basic and clinical research, and 3) "closest to implementation," as these funders belong to the organizations that provide healthcare in Sweden, and fund primarily clinical research. The funding managers were selected to represent the key decision makers at each funder in terms of allocation of funds, holding positions such as chairman, vice chairman and general director.

Study III and IV include four university-based healthcare innovations from US (Stanford University) and Sweden (Uppsala University) constituting two pairs of innovations: two innovations from Stanford reflecting the same IPR ownership but different IP nature, and two from Uppsala reflecting the same IPR ownership but different IP nature. The four cases were identified through field studies in both contexts. From these four cases the respondents selected were 38 innovation process stakeholders, consisting of all involved academic inventors, startup founders, ISAs, selected users, and other relevant actors' such as NGOs.

Data collection

Study I

Study I builds on 18 semi-structured, face-to-face, interviews that were conducted with two respondents per funder, except in two cases where only one relevant respondent existed. The respondents were identified by the involved researchers. Each respondent was asked to mention important respondents within their organization to validate the relevance of the included respondents and identify alternative respondents. The same interview guide was used with all respondents with small changes based on the respondents' organization (for an example of an interview guide see (199)). The data collection aimed to capture two aspects: 1) the research funders' roles, and 2) the research funders' views on responsibility for implementation. No specific definition of the primary concepts, concerning roles and responsibilities were provided as exploring the respondents' opinions, instead of making them think of specific concepts, was preferred. Data triangulation (200) was used to explore the investigated phenomenon as broadly as possible. Data was collected from funders' websites, funders' annual reports, and goal statements (see Table 2 in (199)), and reviewed to find out how the funders presented their official roles, and whether responsibility issues for implementation were mentioned or not.

Study II

Study II is based on 18 semi-structured, face to face, interviews that were conducted with the funding managers. The same interview guide was used with all respondents with small changes based on the respondents' organization (Table 2). The data collection aimed to capture three aspects: 1) how funding managers define implementation, 2) funding managers' evaluations of their knowledge, i.e., self-assessed knowledge, and 3) factors (e.g., experience of clinical research) that influence their self-assessed implementation knowledge. No specific definition of the primary concepts, concerning implementation and implementation knowledge were provided to respondents as exploring their understanding, instead of making them think of specific concepts, was preferred. In addition to interviews, data was collected from the funding managers' websites with the purpose to triangulate data (198).

Table 2. Key interview questions in Study II

What is your knowledge about implementation?

How would you define implementation?

Can your organization, as a research funding organization, do something that improves the use of research results in practice? If so, what?

Do you think that one can compare your organization, as a research funding organization, with another similar research funding organization? If not, what makes your organization special?

What happens with results from clinical research funded by your organization?

Studies III and IV

In Studies III and IV 38 respondents were included. Here, data was collected through different means based on the availability and preferences of respondents. However, the majority of the data was collected through semistructured interviews (Table 3). Interview guides were used, but adapted to different organizations and the availability of the respondents (Table 4). The data collection aimed to capture several aspects, such as the innovation process, the actors involved and their roles, the barriers and facilitators, and the outcomes of the innovation process. In addition to the interviews with innovation stakeholders, data was collected from organizations websites (i.e., university and company websites), and financial databases (i.e., US Securities and Exchange Commission and Allabolag) to triangulate data (198).

Respondents position	Type of data
Innovation A	Type of data
1 Inventor	Interview (transcribed) ^a
2 Co inventor	Interview (transcribed)
2. Co-inventor 3. Co founder startup	Interview (transcribed)
1 TTO rep	Questionnaire
5 CEO startun	Interview (transcribed)
6 Startup ren?	Interview (transcribed)
7 Startup rep2	Interview (transcribed)
8 Startup rep3	Interview (transcribed)
9 Enduser1	Interview (transcribed)
10 End user?	Telephone interview (notes)
Innovation R	receptione interview (notes)
11 Inventor	Interview (transcribed)
12 TTO ren	Interview (transcribed)
13 NGO1 ren1	Interview (transcribed)
14 NGO1 rep?	Interview (transcribed)
15 NGO2 rep	Interview (transcribed)
16 End user Director	Interview (transcribed)
17 End user1	Interview (transcribed)
18 Consultant	Interview (transcribed)
19. End user2	Interview (transcribed)
20. End user clinical champion	Interview (transcribed)
21. CEO Self-help book publisher	E-mail communication (written document)
Innovation C	(
22. Inventor1	Interview (transcribed)
23. Inventor2	Interview (transcribed)
24. Co-inventor1	Interview (transcribed)
25. Co-inventor2	Interview (transcribed)
26. TTO rep1	Interview (transcribed)
27. TTO rep2	E-mail communication (written document)
28. Incubator rep	Interview (transcribed)
29. CEO startup	Interview (transcribed)
Innovation D	· · · · ·
30. Inventor	Interview (transcribed)
31. Co-inventor	Questionnaire
32. Co-founder1 startup	Interview (transcribed)
33. Board member startup	Interview (transcribed)
34. TTO rep	Telephone interview (notes)
35. CEO first startup	Telephone interview (notes)
36. End user1	Questionnaire
37. End user2	Questionnaire
38. End user1 Director	Questionnaire

Table 3. Respondents and type of data collected in Study III and IV

^a The interviews were conducted face-to face if nothing else is given.

1 Could you describe shortly the innovation in question?	13 Who became the user of the innovation in healthcare practice and who
1. Cours for accence moust me muchannan in facence.	took responsibility for the implementation process?
2. How and when was the innovation process initiated?	14. What was your role in implementing the innovation?
3. Was there any initial goal/s with starting up the innovation	15. Are you still involved in the innovation process?
process? In that case, which goal/s?	
 What were the initial results of this process? Was the inno- vation useful and could it he used in healthcare practice? 	16. Do you think that the results would have been implemented in healthcare practice without the help and contribution of the TTO? If so
	why or why not?
5. Were the results published in scientific journals? If so, in which iournals? Why not? Was it important for you?	17. Who funded the innovation process from research to implementation?
6. Who owns the rights to the innovation in terms of intellec-	18. Was the expected impact on healthcare practice confirmed after im-
uai property rights?	plementation of this innovation?
7. Has the innovation been patented? If so, by whom?	19. Were there any barriers encountered during the innovation process? If
	so, which were the most important partiers?
8. Was the TTO consulted or were other actors consulted?	20. Is someone using this innovation today in healthcare practice? If so, who?
9. Was the innovation licensed to an organization?	21. Do you consider that implementation of this innovation was successful? If so, why or why not?
10. Was the innovation developed further after the initial findings? If so by whom?	22. Are the existing regulations regarding intellectual property rights helpful or a hinder in innovation and implementation considering this
	case? In which way?
11. Was there any further research conducted, concerning the	23. Has this innovation and its use in healthcare practice been economi-
Innovation, after the initial findings? If so, by whom?	cally beneficial for you?
12. Who decladed to Implement the research findings in healthcare practice?	24. IS LIFELE SOLIFOLIE EISE WILD I SILOUID IILLELVIEW ?
Data analysis

Study I

In Study I the interview data was analyzed with an abductive approach (201,202), a suitable approach when one aims to study phenomena in their context, starting from existing theory (203). Combining induction and deduction, the approach allowed the initiation of the study with meaningful pre-determined concepts (about roles and responsibilities). Both a within-cases and an across-cases analysis (198) was conducted, to compare the perceptions, within the same level of funders and between different levels of funders, searching for similarities and differences.

Study II

In Study II, adhering to an inductive approach, where theory development is the goal, a systematic coding procedure was applied followed by a structured presentation of the data, resulting in a grounded theory (195). The analysis was conducted in six phases. First, the transcripts were analyzed to identify the first-order categories. Second, the first-order categories were grouped into second-order themes. Third, the second-order themes were grouped into higher-order aggregate dimensions (195,204). Fourth, the implementation definitions, self-assessed implementation knowledge and the factors influencing implementation knowledge, within and between the three different types of funders, were compared. Fifth, explanations for differences and similarities were explored, based on the interview data and secondary data (i.e., data from the funding managers' websites). Sixth, a grounded model was drafted (195). In developing the grounded model a comparison between the empirical findings (i.e., interview and secondary data) and the existing literature (e.g., policy research and implementation research) was conducted to tie the grounded model with existing research.

Study III

Study III builds on an inductive approach and the analysis was conducted in seven phases. *First*, case histories were created based on the interviews. *Second*, case histories were scanned for clues of how IPR ownership and IP nature influenced the innovation processes, in terms of the emerging roles of inventors and ISAs. *Third*, a content analysis and open coding of the empirical material was conducted to create schemes that capture the inventor and ISA roles as described by the respondents (195). *Fourth*, the schemes were developed towards a more theoretical understanding of the roles, by cycling between the empirical findings and the existing theoretical concepts to form role categories. *Fifth*, the case histories were matched with the role categories.

ries, and shorter case histories centered on the roles of inventors and ISAs were created. *Sixth*, the shorter case histories were examined to move from the multiple roles played by the inventors and ISAs, to an overall understanding of their involvement in the innovation processes. *Seventh*, a cross-case comparison (197) of the roles and levels of involvement in the four innovations was conducted, to trace patterns in roles and involvement of inventors and ISAs, in relation to IPR ownership and IP nature. The goal with this process was to generate propositions, represented in a grounded model that are sufficiently robust to be tested in future research (205).

Study IV

Study IV builds on an inductive approach where a detailed procedure for coding, representation of the data and crafting of the grounded model (195,204) was used. The analysis was conducted in six phases. First, to identify the institutional logics at play, short case histories of each innovation process based on the descriptions of the stakeholders were drafted. Second, to explore how different institutional logics influence behavior, the practices of the academic inventors were mapped starting by tracking all practices as described by the respondents and continuing by grouping these into firstorder categories (195,204). Then, the first-order categories were organized into second-order themes, and thereafter the second-order themes were grouped into higher-abstraction aggregated practices. Third, the influence of the institutional logics on inventors' behavior was mapped by connecting each academic inventor practice with the corresponding institutional logic. *Fourth*, the individual practices were summarized to appreciate the influence of logics, assessed through logic compatibility, focusing on logic interaction, and through logic centrality, focusing on the existence of one or several logics. Fifth, the individual strategies to deal with multiple logics were identified, and compared with the influence of logics, in order to evaluate the overall influence of logics and the strategies in each of the four innovation processes. Sixth, the four innovation cases were compared in order to detect similarities and differences, which in turn allowed the crafting of the grounded model on academic inventors facing institutional complexity.

Results

The guiding assumption in this thesis is that the reigning understanding of the knowledge-practice gap is incomplete based on two deficits: 1) previous research examining the knowledge-practice gap has focused mainly on implementation in the healthcare context, and 2) the healthcare centrality has contributed to a predominant focus on actors that function in the healthcare context. The four studies included in this thesis aim to address these two deficits focusing on three different actors (i.e., research funders, academic inventors, and ISAs) and five factors (i.e., implementation knowledge, responsibility for implementation, IPR ownership, IP nature and institutional logics) that in turn influence the actors' behavior. Below the most important results in each study will be presented.

Study I: Research funders' roles and perceived responsibilities in relation to the implementation of clinical research results: A multiple case study of Swedish research funders

The 10 research funders identified eight roles for funders (Table 5). Among funders, at least at two different funding levels, two common roles were identified: "advocacy work" and "monitoring implementation outcomes." "Dissemination of knowledge" was a common role within national private funders, but not identified by the other two funding levels. In terms of funding levels, the prevalence of the roles and the number of funders enacting the roles differed between funding levels, as the national private funders enacted relatively many roles compared to the two other funding levels.

The funders identified six actors responsible for implementation (Table 6). The "county councils" were the most frequently mentioned actors followed by the "head of hospital units." The relevance of the county councils was further enforced by the fact that one funder viewed them responsible together with medical practitioners. All in all, funders believed that the responsibility for implementation is located in the healthcare setting as five out

Table 5 . Research funder roles				
Roles	National public	National private	Local public	Total funders ^b
	(c-v) stabilit	(c-v) signini	Innuers (IN-4)	
Advocacy work ^a	1 funder ^c	3 funders		4 funders
Monitoring implementation outcomes		2 funders	1 funder	3 funders
Dissemination of knowledge		3 funders		3 funders
Work actively towards implementation		1 funder		1 funder
Create conditions for implementation through	1 funder			1 funder
legislation in implementation related issues				
Stimulate collaboration between researchers	1 funder			1 funder
and industry				
Educate healthcare personnel		1 funder		1 funder
Create structures for organized introduction			1 funder	1 funder
Total roles ^d	3 roles	5 roles	2 roles	
^a Multiple roles allowed.				
^b Number of funders sunnorting each role horizonta	llv across funding levels	NB: the sum of these tot	als is higher than 10 c	lue to multinle answers al-

3 2 Judiur 3 227 ŝ menci 2 2112 22 UL SI lowed per funder. ⁶ Number of funders supporting each role. ⁶ Number of roles vertically for funders within each funding level. International cacil

	National public funders (N=3)	National private funders (N=3)	Local public funders (N=4)	All funders ^b
1. County councils ^a	1 funder ^c	1 funder	1 funder	3 funders
2. Head of hospital units		1 funder	2 funders	3 funders
3. Healthcare system	1 funder			1 funder
4. Medical practition- ers together with County councils	1 funder			1 funder
5. Research funders together with the researcher		1 funder		1 funder
6. Hospital leadership			1 funder	1 funder
Total actors ^d	3 actors	3 actors	3 actors	10 funders

Table 6. Responsibility for implementation

^a One answer allowed.

^b Total number of funders suggesting each responsible actor across funding levels (N=10).

^c Number of funders within funding levels suggesting each responsible actor.

^d Number of identified actors within each funding level.

of six actors were healthcare-related. Further, all these actors were either collective (i.e., combination of several actors) or organizational (e.g., the healthcare system) actors (actors 1, 3, 4, and 6 in Table 6). The majority of the funders who pinpointed county councils as responsible for implementation considered that the county councils take responsibility for implementation "to a certain degree." This somewhat hesitant evaluation of the county councils' responsibility taking was based on two aspects: the system of transforming research results to practice is not optimal and implementation, which requires resources and long-term thinking does not comply well with the short-term goals of the healthcare system of saving lives. In contrast, the majority of the funders, who stated that it is the head of hospital units take responsibility. Taken altogether, the 10 funders considered that the identified actors take responsibility "to a certain degree" (5 funders), take responsibility (4 funders) and do not take responsibility (1 funder).

Study II: A qualitative exploration of research funding managers' implementation knowledge

Implementation knowledge was assessed through funding managers' definitions of implementation and their self-assessed levels of implementation knowledge. The research funding managers defined implementation either as an outcome or a process, the majority perceiving it as a process. Further, their self-assessed implementation knowledge was either limited or substantial with the majority expressing limited self-assessed knowledge.

These four (i.e., outcome, process, limited and substantial self-assessed knowledge) aggregate dimensions emerged from the data through a rigorous step-by-step analysis. The research funding managers mentioned six different factors that could influence their self-assessed implementation knowledge: 1) clinical research experience, 2) general research experience, 3) knowledge of implementation research, 4) clinical experience, 5) industry experience, and 6) task relevance (i.e., whether or not implementation was perceived as a relevant part of the funding managers job). From these, clinical research experience, clinical experience, and task relevance were connected to both substantial self-assessed implementation knowledge (i.e., possession of the three factors) and limited self-assessed implementation knowledge (i.e., lack of the three factors), and thus constituted the most relevant factors influencing self-assessed implementation knowledge within and across the funding levels.

No clear connection between implementation definitions and selfassessed implementation knowledge was identified as the funding managers could have limited self-assessed knowledge, but still define implementation as a process and vice versa. The interview data was compared with secondary data from the funding managers' websites, concerning factors related to the professional experience (i.e., general research experience, clinical research experience, clinical experience and industry experience), which could be traced from the websites. This triangulation of data confirmed the findings from the interviews, meaning that if a research funding manager did not mention a specific factor (e.g., clinical experience) influencing his/her selfassessed implementation knowledge the same research funding manager did not "possess" this factor.

Study III: The roles and involvement of academic inventors and innovation supporting actors in university-based innovation processes: The influence of IPR ownership and IP nature

Altogether there were 27 academic inventor roles spanning over technology, legal, business and using contexts, and 31 ISA roles limited to legal and business contexts. Among the inventor roles, 19 roles were not previously identified and discussed in the literature, whereas among ISA roles, six were not previously identified in the literature. After tracing the number and types of roles of inventors and ISAs, the connections concerning IPR ownership and IP nature were identified. Finally, based on the enacted roles, the involvement of inventors and ISAs were assessed in the four cases: 1) in the first case, both inventor and ISA involvement was weak to medium (university ownership and patentable IP), 2) in the second case, both inventor and ISA involvement was medium to strong (university ownership and nonpatentable IP), 3) in the third case, both inventor and ISA involvement was weak to medium (inventor ownership and patentable IP), and 4) in the fourth case, inventor involvement was medium to strong and ISA involvement was low (inventor ownership and non-patentable IP). The main results concerning roles and involvement were integrated into six propositions, which are outlined in Table 7.

Proposi- tion	Actor	Dependent variable	Independent variable	Content
1a	Inventors	Number of roles	IPR ownership	Inventor ownership entails more inventor roles than university ownership
1b	Inventors	Number of roles	IP nature	Patentable IP entails more inventor roles than non-patentable IP
2	Inventors	Type of roles	IP nature and IPR ownership	The types of inventor roles are more con- nected to IP nature than to IPR ownership
3a	ISAs	Number of roles	IP nature and IPR ownership	The number of ISA roles is more connect- ed to IP nature than to IPR ownership
3b	ISAs	Number of roles	IP nature	Patentable IP entails more ISA roles than non-patentable IP
4	ISAs	Types of roles	IPR ownership and IP nature	The types of ISA roles are more connected to IPR ownership than to IP nature
5	Inventors	Involvement	IP nature	Non-patentable IP entails higher inventor involvement
6	ISAs	Involvement	IP nature and IPR ownership	ISA involvement in an innovation process is more connected to IP nature than to IPR ownership

Table 7. Key characteristics of the propositions

Study IV: Unique logics despite institutional complexity: An inductive study of academic inventors and institutional logics

Altogether 10 second-order practices and the influence of three different institutional logics on the practices of academic inventors were identified: the academic, the market and the care logic. All three logics have certain general characteristics that distinguish them from each other (Table 8).

stics	Academic logic Publish	Market logic Sell	Care logic Provide care
3 H	The first application, it was pub- shed in Y [certain year] when I	"We had three sales repsme and my colleague, and then we had one	"[W]e decided we wanted to do X [a program focusing on a specific clini-
- CO - 2	Iready arrived to Stanford but it vas written in X [certain location]	CEO and one fundraiser who worked to attract funding " (Inventor Innova-	cal area], and we wanted to do X [the program] for a couple of reasons. One
	After that, we published in probably	tion D)	because of the growing number of neonle fourflering from this diseased
	intil we sold the company." (Inven-		and also because X [the disease in
_	of innovation A)		most complex of all [other similar
			diseases]. And thirdly because most
			[existing] programs don't do any- thing." (Inventor Innovation B)
	Personal reputation as an aca-	Increase profits	Personal reputation as a care giver
	demic	"We focus on building a solid com-	"I'm the one who has contact with
	'Yes, for me it [to publish the re-	pany and then the other things will be	other physicians and I'm the one
S	ults] is damn important. Yes, it is	solved. And if we start to consider	who uses the product and imple-
	/ery important." (Inventor1 Innova-	too early things like acquisition and	ments it in the clinic. And this is
	ION C)	similar things then it is just a disturb- ance Now we will launch this in	perhaps a quite unique role that I have There aren't so many previous
		different countries and show that it is	companies that involve a physician
		possible to sell this and make money	who can give this immediate feed-
		and we consider that it is more im-	back because you can't see certain
		portant than to try to sell it [the com-	things before you apply it to a pa-

All these three logics exerted influence on the practices of academic inventors, but both the care and the market logic were highly prevalent. The academic logic influenced behavior in five instances (i.e., a situation where a specific practice was influenced by a certain logic), whereas the market and the care logic influenced behavior in 24 respectively 18 instances.

Concerning technology types, which was one of the aspects that provided variation between the cases, the high-tech cases were mostly influenced by the market logic, whereas the care logic was prevalent in low-tech cases, with one of the low-tech cases blending the care and the market logics. In terms of logic compatibility four different types of interaction patterns were identified: "complementary," "reinforcing," "conflicting" and "no interaction." All four cases displayed high logic compatibility as the general pattern was "no interaction" in three of the cases, and in the fourth case "complementary" interaction was prevalent. Regarding logic centrality four different levels of logic centrality were identified: 1) lowest, 2) low, 3) medium, and 4) high logic centrality. In Besharov and Smith's (138) framework low logic centrality is preserved for situations which display the existence of core logics together with peripheral logics. Going beyond low logic centrality the instances when there were, in general, no peripheral logics were labeled "lowest" logic centrality. Further, the institutional logics present in the instances with lowest logic centrality were labeled as "unique" logics. Summarizing, three of the cases displayed "lowest" logic centrality as there was one unique logic guiding behavior. The fourth case displayed a blending of the care and the market logics leading to high logic centrality.

Summarizing logic compatibility and logic centrality for each of the four cases, in relation to Besharov and Smith's (138) framework, indicated that the influence of logics was "dominant" in three of the cases with high logic compatibility (i.e., the existence of reinforcing and complementing logics) and low logic centrality (i.e., the existence of one core logic). The influence of logics was "aligned," in one of the cases with high logic compatibility and high logic centrality (i.e., the existence of several logics which were core to individual behavior). To this end, dominant influence of logics was connected to a behavior that was guided by one core logic with generally "no interaction" between logics. Aligned influence was connected to a behavior that was guided by several core logics, with in general complementary interaction between logics.

Concerning the individual strategies for dealing with the multiple logics, three different strategies were identified: "bridging," "segmenting" and "entrenching." Further, each of the strategies was a response to the influence of the logics, namely "entrenching" was a response to "dominant" influence and "bridging" and "segmenting" were responses to "aligned" influence. The second ground to select cases was the IPR ownership. Innovations originating from Stanford were assumed to entail also logics connected to the TTOs, whereas innovations originating from Uppsala were assumed to entail fewer logics as the innovators are more independent. However, these assumptions were not supported as both contexts displayed all three logics.

Discussion

Summary of findings

This thesis is based on four studies that deal with three key actors that can influence an innovation process in different ways, and in turn are influenced by different factors. Study I identifies eight facilitative funder roles in relation to implementation, where three are prevalent: "advocacy work," "monitoring implementation outcomes," and "dissemination of knowledge." The funders identified six different actors responsible for implementation, but still thought that the responsibility for implementation lies within the healthcare setting. The majority of the identified actors were either collective or organizational actors. Further, the majority of the funders were not convinced that the identified actors fully take responsibility for implementation. Study II shows that the majority of the funding managers defined implementation as a process and felt that they had limited self-assessed implementation knowledge. While six factors were identified as influencing the selfassessed implementation knowledge of funding managers, three of these emerged as explicitly contributing to self-assessed implementation knowledge: clinical research experience, clinical experience and task relevance. No connection between self-assessed implementation knowledge and implementation definitions was detected.

Study III illuminates the connection of both IPR ownership and IP nature with inventor roles (the number of roles). IP nature, in turn is more connected than IPR ownership with inventor roles (the types of roles), ISA roles (number of roles) and the involvement of both inventors and ISAs. IPR ownership is more connected than IP nature with ISA roles (types of roles). Study IV identifies 10 second-order practices of academic inventors, which are influenced by three institutional logics: academic, market and care logics. The market and care logics are highly prevalent, connected to high and low-tech innovations respectively. All four cases display high logic compatibility and no interaction is the prevalent pattern of interaction. Three cases display low logic centrality and one case shows high logic centrality. Summarizing logic compatibility and logic centrality indicates that the influence of logics is dominant in three cases, and aligned in one of the cases. Dominant influence is connected to entrenching as an individual strategy to deal with the influence of logics, whereas aligned influence is connected to strategies of bridging and segmenting.

Research funders' roles in implementation and responsibility for implementation

There is a growing interest to identify and understand the roles of research funders in activities related to implementation of research results (89,91,93). Previous research has identified several roles for funders, such as dissemination of knowledge and advocating for use (89,90), connecting researchers and research users (87,88), involvement in implementation (86,91), and requiring that implementation is addressed already in the grant application (86). However, in depth multiple case studies have been lacking, as the previous studies have mainly been either accounts of single cases from one funder's perspective (87,89-91) or broad international comparisons (92,93). Study I addressed this gap, through a comparative approach focusing on 10 research funders from Sweden. Altogether eight facilitative roles of research funders were identified. Among the eight roles, three were prevalent, either within or across different funding levels, where two of these, namely, dissemination of knowledge and advocacy work, are acknowledged roles of research funders (89,90). The third role, monitoring implementation outcomes, has not been identified previously in the research funding setting, but is an acknowledged role in program and policy implementation (206–208). Monitoring implementation outcomes is a post-implementation role and is an important role for funders who are interested in following what their investments actually lead to in terms of implementation and improvement of patient care.

In terms of funding levels, the roles seemed to fit the types of funders as national public funders acknowledged relatively few facilitative roles that were not very prevalent at the funding level, which might depend on the fact that their main goal is to fund research. The national private funders, in contrast, focused on improving health and identified relatively many facilitative roles that were prevalent at the funding level. The local public funders, in turn, are part of the county councils, who provide healthcare, but still they identify few facilitative roles that were not prevalent at the funding level, which could depend on the fact that although part of the same organization, and with a task to fund patient-related research, they are not involved in implementation.

In terms of responsibility for implementation, the majority of the funders identified responsibility for implementation as lying within the healthcare context, which is in agreement with Swedish law which states that county councils are responsible for good quality care that is continually being developed (209). However, in general, the "problem of many hands" remains relevant as the funders identify six different actors responsible for implementation, which suggests that responsibility issues have become so blurred that responsibility becomes no one's responsibility (210). Yet, this risk is balanced out by the fact that the local public funders, who are closest to

healthcare and implementation contexts, identify only three different actors responsible for implementation. In cases where a collective or an organizational actor, such as the healthcare system, is identified as responsible for implementation the "problem of many hands" might become relevant. Consequently, as the majority of the funders acknowledge a collective or an organizational actor as responsible for implementation, and a total of six different actors have been identified as responsible for implementation, the risk of implementation becoming no one's responsibility is present. In cases where implementation responsibilities are blurred, possible facilitation provided by research funders is obstructed and the implementation of research results becomes less likely.

Research funding managers' implementation knowledge

There is wide gap between what practitioners do when treating patients and the recommended treatments (20,62,211). In order to diminish this gap implementation of new findings is required. Implementation in turn demands the change of existing behavior and thus strategies to change existing behavior are needed (64). To this end, one needs to identify the determinants of the existing behavior (e.g., lack of self-efficacy), and design an implementation strategy (e.g., role modelling) that targets the determinant. Following this, an implementation plan needs to be developed, executed and evaluated. Consequently, implementation can be depicted as a complex, stage-wise process (59). The findings in Study II support the notion that implementation can be described as a process, but funding managers generally do not acknowledge the importance of identifying determinants for behavior and only some perceive implementation as a complex process. Also, some of the funding managers felt that implementation is an outcome, which at least partly contradicts the findings from implementation research that state that implementation is not only an outcome but also requires a process (211). The funding managers that acknowledged implementation as an outcome did not imply that a process is required.

Previous studies have not focused on research funding managers' implementation knowledge, and thus Study II is the first attempt to examine this important topic. One aspect that was assumed to influence the funding managers' self-assessed implementation knowledge was knowledge of implementation research. Implementation research has produced a large output that can be used to plan, execute and evaluate implementation (94), but little effort has been made to assess whether or not implementation research output is used in decision making. Consequently, not much is known about the degree to which healthcare decision makers have knowledge of and use findings from implementation research. Findings from policy literature state that there is a wide gap between existing policy knowledge and practice (95,212– 214), and thus one could assume that this gap also applies to the field of healthcare implementation. The findings in Study II support this hypothesis, as in general research funding managers do not have knowledge of implementation research.

However, knowledge of implementation research might be redundant for research funders who work at the intersection of healthcare and healthcare research as they might have acquired implementation knowledge from other sources, such as through clinical experience or clinical research experience. The findings in Study II support the notion that experience-based knowledge is an important source of implementation knowledge. Clinical experience was one of the factors connected to both limited self-assessed knowledge (i.e., lack of clinical experience) and to substantial self-assessed knowledge (i.e., possession of clinical experience). Previous research has not acknowledged this impact of clinical experience on policymakers' knowledge and use of research results. Also clinical research experience was connected to self-assessed implementation knowledge in a similar way as the clinical experience.

Previous research has not distinguished between general research experience and clinical experience (91,92,216), and thus Study II is a first attempt to make this important distinction. Clinical research deals with patientrelated issues, whereas general research could deal with mouse models or similar issues that could eventually be applied to humans. To this end, clinical research, which takes place in the healthcare context, should be more relevant from an implementation point of view than general research, giving rise to a specific understanding of implementation. These aspects are visible in Study II.

Further, industry experience was a factor brought up by a few funding managers who felt that this factor contributed to their self-assessed knowledge. According to my knowledge, industry experience is not mentioned in previous research relating to policymakers. Finally, a strong impact of task relevance on funding managers' self-assessed knowledge was identified. Task relevance means that a certain task, assignment, role or practice is perceived as relevant for one's activities. The connection between perceived task relevance and actors self-assessed knowledge is supported in previous research concerning planned behavior, where the intention to act depends on the attitude towards the task and whether the task is relevant (216,217). Consequently, the funding managers who perceived implementation as one of their tasks either had substantial knowledge or aimed to increase their limited knowledge. In contrast, funding managers who did not consider that implementation is relevant for their work had either limited knowledge or did not consider their limited knowledge as an issue. Further, no connection was identified between self-assessed implementation knowledge and implementation definitions, for instance, a process view was not based on substantial self-assessed knowledge. This lack of connection could depend on the fact that the research funding managers are modest concerning their knowledge and actually know more (i.e., a majority expressed a process view) than they perceive (i.e., a majority expressed limited self-assessed knowledge). Alternatively, the low accounts of self-assessed knowledge could depend on the fact that although many perceive implementation as a process they still consider that they do not have the complete picture as they only possess experience-based knowledge.

The six factors (knowledge of implementation research, clinical experience, clinical research experience, general research experience, industry experience, and task relevance) described above together constitute a grounded model on research funding managers' implementation knowledge. The model will be discussed under the heading *Theoretical and Practical Implica-tions*.

Influence of IPR ownership and IP nature on roles and involvement of academic inventors and ISAs

University ownership has been claimed, by both researchers and policymakers, to contribute to economic welfare and increased exploitation of IP (185,186,218,219). Based on these assumptions university ownership has been introduced in many countries (150,194). However, many researchers claim that the increased patenting and licensing of university IP in the US, where the idea of university ownership originates, is not connected to university ownership (150,194). One alternative to university ownership is inventor ownership (111). In inventor ownership the economic gains come to the inventor only, and thus this kind of ownership is assumed to provide incentives for the inventors (111,187). Others have in turn argued that university ownership is superior to inventor ownership when it comes to incentives for inventors, because the initial costs of patenting and marketing are covered by the TTOs (167).

The findings in Study III indicate that in both IPR ownership regimes the initial costs were covered by the TTOs, which were involved also in the cases with inventor ownership. Further, the findings do not indicate which type of IPR ownership is more beneficial for innovation and economic welfare. Rather, they imply that IPR ownership does not explain the roles and involvement of inventors and ISA. However, two exceptions apply: 1. the number of inventor roles seem to increase with inventor ownership and 2. the types of ISA roles are specified based on IPR ownership, namely in university ownership the ISA roles revolve around IP protection and IP management, whereas with inventor ownership the roles relate to business support. Instead, the explaining factor concerning roles and involvement seem

to be the IP nature. Consequently, the focus on IPR ownership and discussion revolving around the most beneficial IPR ownership type (220) could be expanded to include IP nature. The findings imply that although patentable IP entails more inventor and ISA roles, this does not mean that the roles are heavy and thus necessitate high involvement. Indeed, the involvement of inventors is higher in non-patentable IP. This could be due to the fact that it is more difficult to exploit non-patentable medical IP, as non-patentable IP is not very easy to define, as expressed by the stakeholders concerning both cases of non-patentable innovations.

Previous research on IP nature is mostly focused on patentable IP and the incentives it brings to different stakeholders (112,171,221). The findings in Study III not only confirm the previous understanding that patentable IP is more interesting for stakeholders, attracting more funding, but also reveal that non-patentable IP attracts funding and engages inventors and ISAs in exploitation of IP. Further, the findings provide examples of non-patentable IP which are licensed to users. In earlier studies, non-patentable IP was assumed to be of little interest for inventors and ISAs (171,222), the avenue to exploit the IP being consulting with little involvement of the TTOs (167,170). Moreover, the findings in Study III show that patentable IP does not seem to render inventor involvement unnecessary as assumed by previous research (167). This supports the argument that inventor involvement is necessary despite the innovation type (103). Consequently, the findings illuminate the importance of IP nature in explaining inventor and ISA roles and involvement. They also suggest that not only patentable but also nonpatentable IP can be attractive for inventors and ISAs. To this end, the findings in Study III question the general assumption that patenting is a requirement for exploitation of medical IP (124,223-225).

Academic inventors and their practices analyzed through institutional logics

In Study IV, a new logic, in the setting of academic inventing in the domain of medicine, was identified, namely the care logic. A limited presence of the academic logic was identified, though it is often assumed to be prevalent and in conflict with the market logic (113,118–121). Previous research has mainly focused on the early stages in commercialization of high-tech IP (118,124,125), which has led to overemphasizing the academic logic. During the early stages (e.g., patenting and licensing), the academic logic becomes relevant. But when the focus shifts from the early stages, an alternative logic becomes more salient (i.e., care logic), which together with the market logic is prevalent during the whole innovation process. Moreover, previous re-

search focusing on academic inventing has predominantly focused on hightech IP (118,119,123–125), ignoring for instance low-tech IP, such as different self-management programs (47,226–228). When the different types of technologies were included in Study IV, the care logic emerged as an important logic connected to low-tech innovations. Conversely, the findings show that the market logic was connected to high-tech innovations.

The findings in Study IV also indicate several patterns that picture the practices of academic inventors in settings with multiple institutional logics:

1) regardless of the availability of multiple logics, a strong pattern of practices, based either on the market or the care logic, was identified, where the logics prevalence was based on technology types,

2) minimal interaction between logics was present and the main pattern of interaction was actually "no interaction,"

3) instead of several logics that are core to individual behavior the behavior is guided by "unique" logics,

4) the combined influence of logics, assessed through logic compatibility and logic centrality, leads to a "dominant" influence on behavior, which corresponds to a strategy of entrenching with a unique logic.

These four patterns contradict the assumptions concerning settings with multiple logics regarding the influence of logics (110,114,131–133), and the individual strategies employed by organization-bound actors (131,132,134,135). Against this background, the findings support Besharov and Smith's (138) postulation that settings with multiple logics can produce heterogeneous outcomes (e.g., multiple logics produce behavior guided by one core logic), and thus further research in this important topic is called for.

Besharov and Smith's (138) framework was employed and adjusted to study the influence of logics on individual behavior. This application of Besharov and Smith's (138) framework provides evidence that the concepts of logic compatibility and logic centrality can be used to study individual behavior as well. However, Study IV goes beyond the usual approach of studying individual strategies to cope with multiple logics (134–136), by mapping the influence of logics on each practice and connecting these practices with the individual strategies. Although some have connected logics with individual strategies on a practical level (134,143), this is not based on a systematic assessment of the influence of logics through logic compatibility and logic centrality. To this end, Study IV contributes to improved understanding of the connection between the influence of logics and corresponding individual strategies.

Theoretical and Practical Implications

This thesis set out to study the behavior of three key actors and the factors influencing their behavior during an innovation process. Several new empirical findings resulted from this relating to the roles of research funders and ISAs, as well as the practices of academic inventors. Altogether three main theoretical and practical implications can be derived regarding responsibility for implementation, implementation knowledge and IP nature as an explanatory factor. All these three implications will be elucidated below.

Responsibility for implementation

Research funders' perceptions of responsibility for implementation pointed at six different actors, thus introducing the problem of many hands (210) and risking making implementation no one's responsibility. If research funders do not have a unified understanding of responsibility for implementation, or if they perceive implementation to be a collective responsibility, they may face difficulties in providing optimal implementation support. This issue of responsibility raises a broader concern, namely who is responsible for implementation in complex healthcare organizations?

As clarified through the problem of many hands, responsibility may become crucial in organizations where several individuals and levels are involved. Moreover, areas of responsibilities become blurred when responsibility is allocated to collective or organizational actors (210). The role of the healthcare system or county councils as responsible actors portrays the problem of many hands. If individual healthcare professionals were responsible for implementation it would be easier, and also more legitimate to hold individuals responsible (210). On the other hand Bovens (16) points out that individual responsibility still entails a risk as it may be difficult to know if someone else contributed to the outcomes in cases where something went wrong. According to Bovens (16), an alternative to individual responsibility is the allocation of responsibility, for instance, to department heads which represent a form of hierarchical accountability.

Thompson (210), who identified the problem of many hands, in turn argues that hierarchical responsibility is a ceremonial responsibility, which does not acknowledge organizational complexity and thus leaves out the individuals who contributed to the outcomes. Likewise, Dixon-Woods and

Pronovost (229) acknowledge the problem of many hands, especially in regards to patient safety, and argue for an increased collective responsibility where, for instance, peer-sanctions function as checks and balances to responsibility, identifying *peer control* as an important ingredient contributing to responsibility. Sanctions are in turn based on the perceptions of the collective right and wrong, and thus this form of control is close to what Kärreman and Alvesson label as socio-ideological control (230). Socio-ideological control is a form of control that focuses on the management of ideas, beliefs and identity formation in complex organizations that are highly decentralized, where management of outcomes is difficult. Other alternatives of socio-ideological control are, for instance, identity-based control and regulation (231), and ideology and clan-based control (232). Common to these types of control mechanisms is that they try to manage aspects that influence individual behavior in an organizational setting, instead of focusing directly on behavior, for instance, through direct supervision, as suggested by Mintzberg (233).

In contrast to control mechanisms that influence behavior, Thompson (234) is a proponent of an increased individual responsibility that aims to control direct behavior. If something goes wrong, the individuals who contributed to the outcomes are defined and the reasons behind the outcomes are analyzed. The meaning is not to punish the individuals, but to build organizational structures, which are based on individual responsibility and that in the long run foster individual responsibility (234). Dixon-Woods and Pronovost (229) perceive that in healthcare, individual responsibility gives too much responsibility to the individuals in a complex system where local solutions might cause problems in other settings. For instance, practitioners might follow a hospital specific guideline, but when moving to another hospital the same guideline might have adverse effects (229). To this end, Dixon-Woods and Pronovost (229) question the adequacy of individual responsibility.

I agree with Dixon-Woods and Pronovost that individual responsibility might be inadequate, but I base my argument on different grounds: the healthcare profession is, in general, assumed to be self-monitoring building on an assumption that a healthcare professional does not aim to cause harm to patients by applying obsolete knowledge (235,236). However, such selfmonitoring might be inadequate as implementation often requires change of old routines and improving of knowledge, which naturally activates a defense mechanism, where the old practice might be defended although proven to be obsolete (61). To this end, apart from individuals, even peers and collectives can continue with obsolete practice because changing practice is difficult. Consequently, managing beliefs and ideas as suggested by the socio-ideological approach (230), rather than managing direct behavior (233), is more in line with the implementation research approach on changing practice (61). Against this background, the fundamental question concerning responsibility for implementation seems to be: Is there someone who is responsible for implementation and if so, who? One possible follow-up question could be: How is the responsibility for implementation created and managed?

Perhaps there are differences in responsibility for implementation between contexts where the management is focusing on *controlling behavior*, *influencing behavior* or *managing behavior through peer control*. For instance, the influencing behavior approach could create a strong ideology concerning evidence-based medicine (235), which in turn could be more conducive to responsibility for implementation, whereas controlling the healthcare personnel's use of guidelines could be less conducive to responsibility for implementation.

These insights concerning responsibility for implementation have practical implications encouraging a debate about responsibility for implementation at different levels (e.g., research producing, implementation facilitation and research using), and how one could increase responsibility for implementation. On the other hand, responsibility for implementation should be an important issue addressed in implementation research, and thus the insights from this thesis concerning responsibility for implementation could stimulate further studies and theory development in responsibility issues in healthcare.

Implementation knowledge

The policy-practice gap (95,96) regarding implementation implies that the research funding managers, who are one type of policymakers, do not apply knowledge from implementation research in decision making. The knowledge that they are assumed to lack is knowledge from implementation research. However, the findings in Study II indicate that the research funding managers possess certain implementation knowledge acquired from experience, rather than from science. These findings raise an important issue in the context of implementation research, which aim to produce output that can be used to plan, study and evaluate implementation (94), namely: Do research funders need knowledge of implementation research if implementation knowledge can be acquired through practical experience? Based on the findings in Study II, the answer would still be yes because the majority of the research funding managers, although defining implementation as a process, lacked a deeper understanding concerning the processual aspects, such as the identification of barriers and facilitators and tailoring of the strategies to barriers and facilitators. To this end, the policymakers that work in the intersection of healthcare and healthcare research would benefit from the output of implementation research. Despite this, the grounded model on implementation knowledge, developed in Study II, highlights the fact that knowledge from implementation research is only one factor that can contribute to research funders' knowledge. This insight provides preliminary practical implications that experience, such as clinical research experience and clinical experience, can entail basic knowledge about implementation.

Many of the factors in the grounded model are factors that are difficult to influence through a short-term implementation intervention: clinical experience, general research experience, clinical research experience and industry experience. For instance, it would be difficult to design an implementation strategy that aims to increase one's clinical experience through a behavioral intervention. Further, clinical experience does not embody an underlying behavioral aspect that could be targeted to influence clinical experience. In contrast, the factors in the grounded model that can be influenced through implementation strategies are knowledge of implementation research and task relevance. As already stated, improving research funding managers' knowledge of implementation research would be beneficial. To address a lack of knowledge several implementation strategies could be applied, such as "using imagery" where a lot of information can be memorized by attaching the information to daily routines or through "chunking" where the information is divided into small stimulus patterns that are perceived as a whole (66). Also task relevance could be increased through several implementation strategies. Task relevance consists of several behavioral factors, such as knowledge and attitudes, which can be influenced, for instance, through "using imagery" or through "shifting perspective" where the individual takes someone else's perspective (66). Despite the rigidity of several of the factors in the grounded model, it still demonstrates the relevance of experiencebased factors and further research can identify whether or not the model can also be applied to other areas of policymaking where experience could give knowledge, comparable to some findings, for instance, from policy research.

The grounded model is a contribution to implementation research theories, models and frameworks, which traditionally focus on practitioners and organizational aspects (237–239). Instead of pinpointing different facilitators and barriers to implementation, it highlights relevant aspects to understand research funding managers' implementation knowledge, which in turn can elucidate the research funding managers' possibilities to undertake different facilitative roles in relation to implementation. The grounded model also broadens the scope of implementation research beyond the healthcare context and practitioners, illustrating that the knowledge-practice gap can be addressed through aspects that are relevant before the evidence enters the healthcare context.

The explaining factors in the model are connected to self-assessed implementation knowledge, which is the research funding managers' own evaluation of their implementation knowledge. The findings illustrate that a certain perception of self-assessed implementation knowledge does not coincide with a certain implementation definition, which is line with previous findings concerning the connection between knowledge and self-assessed knowledge in general (240). However, the model does not provide guidance on how to influence implementation definitions, which reflect the funding managers' knowledge of the phenomenon. Further, knowledge of something is not a direct determinant of behavior as several other aspects influence behavior, such as attitudes and evaluations of self-efficacy (i.e., whether or not the person trusts her capabilities to perform a specific behavior), but knowledge is an important prerequisite for many of the other behavioral aspects (66). To this end, studying knowledge, both definitions and levels of knowledge is important. Moreover, the grounded model focuses on a neglected actor (i.e., the funding managers), but the issue of implementation knowledge should be highly relevant for other actors as well. These can include governmental officials drafting policies concerning healthcare and healthcare practitioners themselves. If the findings apply to healthcare practitioners, the importance of experience-based knowledge could point to the need of exposing the practitioners to well-designed implementation strategies rather than intuitive strategies. One recent study protocol focused on the healthcare managers implementation knowledge aiming to provide competence building in implementation knowledge (241). To this end, the grounded model provides important insights into a timely topic. Consequently, the insights from this thesis concerning implementation knowledge could stimulate a debate concerning the need for and varying degrees of implementation knowledge in different levels.

IP nature in explaining inventors' and ISAs' behavior and institutional logics

The findings in Study III do not support the primacy of IPR ownership in influencing inventor and ISA behavior, rather the IP nature seems to be more connected to the roles and involvement of inventors and ISAs. Further, in Study IV the IP nature is connected to certain institutional logics, which are connected to high-tech respectively to low-tech innovations. All in all, the IPR ownership has some explanatory relevance, but its central place in policy and research could be questioned and could be at least complemented with a discussion concerning IP nature.

The findings of this thesis make an important contribution to understanding academic inventing by expanding the scope to low-tech innovations, which are not patentable, and indicating that there is a connection between the care logic and low-tech medical innovations. Despite the fact that university-based innovations cover a spectrum of innovations – both low-tech and high-tech – the predominant focus has been on high-tech innovations, and the early steps (e.g., patenting and licensing) in the innovation process. This bias towards certain types of innovations has created a debate concerning academic inventing, which revolves around two institutional logics, namely the academic and the market logic (113,118). Often this binary relation of the academic and market logics has been perceived to lead to an uneasy co-existence of the two logics (113,118–121). This narrow view depicting academic inventing has three key consequences:

1) an incomplete view of the nature of academic inventing is received,

2) the conflict between the academic and the market logic during the early steps flavor the discussion concerning academic inventing, putting the emphasis on two contradictory forces, namely academia and the commercial world, and

3) low-tech/non-patentable IP, which embody important innovations that can improve patients' health, do not receive attention in policy circles, which in turn influences funding opportunities, but might also discourage innovators interested to exploit low-tech IP.

The findings from this thesis elucidate all these three concerns and illustrate the relevance of low-tech innovations/non-patentable IP for academic inventing, and how this kind of IP is connected to care logics. These insights could contribute to the policy debate concerning the primacy of different kinds of IPR ownership regimes by highlighting the relevance of IP nature. On the other hand, both IP nature and the care logic provide interesting avenues for theoretical understanding of academic inventor behavior.

Methodological considerations

The four studies that constitute this thesis address the two aims: (A) to examine the behaviors of the three actors, i.e., research funders, academic inventors and ISAs during an innovation process, and (B) to explore the influence of contextual factors (i.e., implementation knowledge, responsibility for implementation, IPR ownership, IP nature and institutional logics) on actors' behaviors. The underlying idea with focusing on actors was that facilitation in different forms is assumed to be able to influence innovation processes. Acknowledging the existence and importance of several different actors during an innovation process. I decided to focus on three actors that have not received adequate interest in previous research despite their important position. However, actors do not function in a vacuum during an innovation process but are influenced by different factors, which require the identification of key factors assumed to influence actors' behaviors. The identification of factors is a limitation in this thesis as it builds on a subjective view about the importance of certain factors. There are several other factors, such as the regulation of medical technology (approval required in the US from the Food and Drug Administration vs. CE marking required in Sweden), procurement of medical technology (no procurement process in the US vs. a strict procurement process in Sweden), previous experience of innovators from commercializing medical technology (ranging from high to low experience). Some of these factors were mentioned by the respondents, but none of these were deemed as central by them. However, the interview guides did not focus on these alternative issues, and thus it is possible that important aspects may have emerged if the focus had been on any of the alternative factors. Consequently, I do not claim that the factors covered are the only relevant factors. The same argumentation is applicable to the selection of the actors. Also here, several other actors could have been selected and studied.

All four studies in this thesis build on a qualitative method. Qualitative studies are often a good starting point if existing knowledge and understanding concerning a phenomenon is inadequate (242). Against this background, qualitative and quantitative methods could be depicted as complementary in a way that qualitative studies explore an issue (e.g., hypothesis generating, theory building) and quantitative studies test the generated hypothesis or proposed theory (196). To this end, Studies I-IV were conducted as explorative examinations concerning actors and issues, where knowledge is inadequate or points to different directions. Studies II-IV constructed grounded models which all can be applied further in quantitative designs, whereas Study I identified an issue, responsibility for implementation, which can be examined through a quantitative design at different levels. Studies I-IV built on semi-structured interviews as the fundamental source of data, combined with data from homepages, databases and documents. In qualitative research as well as in quantitative research, validity and reliability are two core concepts, which can be used to assess qualitative research (196). In addition to these two, reflexivity is an important issue in qualitative research (242). Each of these will be discussed below.

Creswell (196) proposes eight different strategies to improve *validity* or the "accuracy" of the findings from qualitative research: 1) prolonged engagement, 2) triangulation, 3) debriefing, 4) negative case analyses, 5) clarifying bias, 6) respondent validation, 7) thick descriptions, and 8) external audit. Creswell (196) argues that in each study at least two of the strategies should be employed. To this end, Study I employed *triangulation*, *clarifying bias* and *thick descriptions* of the cases studied, whereas Study II relied on *triangulation*, *clarifying bias*, and *debriefing* by a couple of external reviewers, who conducted one form of interrater reliability test of the coding scheme. Studies III and IV employed *triangulation*, *clarifying bias*, *respondent validation*, *thick descriptions* of the innovation processes and, rigorous *external auditing* by several leading authors in the field. Consequently, several measures were undertaken in each of the four studies to increase the validity of the findings.

Despite these measures, Studies I-IV all have certain weaknesses that impact validity. In Study I, the research funders were not asked to check the initial findings concerning their roles and perceptions on responsibility as they were extremely difficult to get hold of. In Study II, the same decision was made concerning the funding managers' implementation knowledge. If the respondents in Studies I-II had been asked to check the initial findings they might have pointed out something that was missing or misinterpreted. Consequently, the lack of respondent checking might decrease the validity of the findings (196). In contrast, in Studies III and IV the respondents were asked to validate the innovation process journeys (capturing, for instance, the roles and practices of different actors and the factors influencing the process), but few of the respondents replied and in general few issues were raised by the respondents, suggesting that the interpretation of the data was in line with their understanding. In Study III and IV it would have been beneficial to prolong the research process and add new cases that aimed to confirm or disconfirm the findings. For instance, search for low-tech cases where no care logic was present or identify high-tech cases where the activities were based on care logic. As resources were limited, it was not possible to search for confirming and disconfirming cases which means that the validity of the findings may be decreased when only confirming cases are included (196).

Reliability, in turn, in qualitative research deals with the coding of the data, and one central issue is the process of conducting intercoding (196). These concerns were addressed in each of the four studies within the limited resources that a PhD project has to deal with. In Studies I-IV, one researcher coded the interview transcripts, which could decrease reliability of the coding and eventually the findings (196). To counterbalance this and increase reliability the coding schemes were reevaluated and meticulously discussed by the involved researchers in Studies I-IV. The aim was to reach an agreement concerning code names and the quotes backing up the codes and the final coding schemes were drafted based on consensus between the involved researchers. All final codes were backed up by quotes in Studies I-IV. In Study II, four other researchers, independent from the project, were asked to organize the interview data into first-order categories, second-order themes and finally into aggregate dimensions. All codes that had less than 75% convergence between the four coders were recoded. The final coding was based on a consensus between the three authors.

Reflexivity is about the researchers' preconceptions and understanding of the studied issues. No one starts from a clean table and although qualitative research does not aim to test hypotheses there still are some preconceptions that are visible in a qualitative inquiry. Being aware and open about the preconceptions is important in qualitative research (242). In Study I-IV certain preconceptions influenced the study design, for instance, in Study I the implementation related roles were assumed to differ based on the funder type, and thus this was one of the issues that was used to select cases. In Study II, the closeness to implementation and type of research funded were assumed

to influence implementation knowledge. In Study III and IV the IP nature and IPR ownership were assumed to influence roles and practices, and thus cases providing variation in IP nature and IPR ownership were selected. These kinds of preconceptions always influence the study design and when reflexivity is taken seriously they can also guide the study design (196). The downside of preconceptions is however that the study is put on a certain path and, although inductive, there is only certain space within which the findings can vary. For instance, in Study II, the implementation definitions were not pre-defined by researchers, but the respondents cannot go "outside" implementation definitions as the researchers have decided to assess implementation knowledge through implementation definitions.

Further research

This thesis and its findings open up several interesting avenues for further research, but the main avenues discussed here build on the three outlined theoretical and practical implications. Responsibility for implementation was studied connected to research funding managers, but as indicated this issue raises an important question in the healthcare context, namely who is responsible for improvement of care. As suggested previously, there might be differences in responsibility for implementation between contexts, where the management is focused on controlling direct behavior, influencing individual behavior or controlling collective behavior. Future research could study who is responsible for implementation and in which way the different management styles influence responsibility for implementation. Different designs could be employed, such as direct observation of management in hospital wards combined with existing outcome data concerning the adherence to guidelines. Future research could examine which types of ideologies or institutional logics can be distinguished in the healthcare context, and how these influence responsibility for implementation. For instance, the care logic might incorporate different elements of the academic logic and put more or less emphasis on patient preferences. This process could start with certain clinical areas and interview healthcare practitioners in order to identify themes and explore feasibility for a large-scale survey study.

The second main implication dealt with the research funding managers' implementation knowledge, but as previously stated this raises a broader issue, which is highly relevant in the implementation context, namely what implementation knowledge do the healthcare practitioners at the frontline of implementation have. To this end, future research could examine the healthcare practitioners' implementation knowledge and whether it is mainly experience-based or science-based, and how their implementation knowledge influences implementation of new findings and treatments in their units. Several designs could be employed, such as survey concerning

knowledge and existing data concerning adherence to guidelines and implementation of guidelines. The third main implication from this thesis and the third avenue for further research concerns the IP nature. Future research could review a large number of innovations and study whether the IP nature is the key factor influencing inventors and ISAs behavior. Moreover, it would be essential to examine whether the assumed connection between the care logic and low-tech medical innovations hold in large scale innovation samples, and whether the IP nature has explanatory power outside the medical domain. In order to conduct large scale comparisons of university-based innovations, which focus on aspects outside patenting and licensing a database should be constructed together with a proxy for involvement and care logic.

Conclusions

The studies included in this thesis have not only contributed to an increased understanding of the behaviors of three important actors during innovation processes and how different factors influence their behaviors in detail, but also elucidate in which way the factors are relevant in their own right. Studies I-II focus on research funders and research funding managers and examine funders' roles, perceptions of responsibility for implementation and the research funding managers' knowledge of implementation. The results concerning the research funders' roles support previous findings and identify a role (i.e., monitoring implementation outcomes) that has not previously been discussed in the literature in relation to research funders. Responsibility for implementation in turn, has not been previously examined – neither concerning research funders nor other implementation-related actors. To this end, the results provide important insights into research funders' perceptions of responsibilities for implementation, but also pinpoint an important issue, which deserves further attention, namely, who is responsible for implementation of research results. Study II develops a grounded model to understand and explain funding managers' implementation knowledge. Implementation knowledge has not received much interest in previous research, where the focus has been to produce knowledge that can be used to plan, study and evaluate implementation. Further, the interest in policy research has been on science-based knowledge, whereas the grounded model highlights the importance of experience-based knowledge, such as clinical experience, in constituting the basis of implementation knowledge.

Study III, focuses on the roles and involvement of academic inventors and ISAs, and how the IPR ownership and IP nature influence their roles and involvement. The results are not in line with previous understanding concerning the importance of IPR ownership, and highlight that in addition to IPR ownership attention could be given to IP nature. Further, elaborating the

existing understanding concerning different types of IP, the results show that a distinction between patentable and non-patentable innovations should be made as the roles and involvement are influenced differently by these two types of IP nature. Study IV, focuses on inventor practices during innovation processes and aims to understand both the influence of logics and the individual strategies employed by the inventors to deal with the logics. The results show that the context of academic inventing can be distinguished from other settings with multiple institutional logics, as in general, there is no interaction between logics, in contrast to the literature's assumptions of logic cooperation and logic conflicts characteristic for settings with multiple logics. Further, the influence on behavior is exerted through a unique logic instead of a constellation of logics as one would assume concerning settings with multiple logics. Finally, the results indicate that the individual strategies to deal with multiple logics coincide with the influence of the logics, showing in general a pattern of entrenching instead of a pattern of segmenting and bridging of logics, as assumed in existing research. In addition to this, Study IV uncovers a new logic in the field of academic inventing, namely the care logic, contributing to the existing discussion concerning the prevalence of the academic and the market logic in the context of academic inventing. The results in both Study III and IV highlight the relevance of studying low-tech medical innovations/non-patentable innovations as these kinds of innovations display distinct patterns in terms of inventor and ISA behavior, but also which institutional logics are prevalent, which are not covered if the focus is only on high-tech innovations.

Acknowledgements

Although I have been driving the studies included in this thesis and holding the pen many people have influenced my work:

Enrico Baraldi, my main supervisor, thank you for accepting me as your PhD student when I approached you and presented my research ideas. I am truly grateful for the engaged, pedagogical, rigorous and always constructive supervision that I received from you. You always treated me more as a colleague than a student. Thank you for the brainstorming occasions and the productive meetings, which almost always overrode the scheduled time. Thank you also for putting the goals in the skies and encouraging me to reach for the sun: We were knocking on heavens doors (read "AMJ") and were invited to the porch, but next time we will make it to the dinner table.

Louise von Essen, my co-supervisor and boss, thank you for supporting me, both mentally and economically, during the journey, and providing timely feedback. Your extensive research experience has been very valuable to me.

Theo van Achterberg, my co-supervisor, thank you for letting me take part in your long experience and expertise in the field of implementation research. Your support and guidance has been very valuable to me. You have always provided critical, but constructive feedback and forced me to think one step further.

Sven Alfonsson, for being a great colleague, roommate and friend. You were always willing to answer my questions or consider alternatives and it was always enlightening to get your view on different issues.

Mitchell Stevens, Director for SCANCOR, thank you for inviting me to take part of the SCANCOR seminars, while I was visiting Stanford, and being very kind and inclusive. Thank you also for the possibility to present my work at SCANCOR and get SCANCORed.

I thank all past and present colleagues and fellow PhD-students at the Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, and at the Department of Women's and Children's Health who made it fun and exciting to come to work: Erik Olsson, Fredrika Norlund, Claudia Lissåker, Helena Grönqvist, John Wallert, Laura Kukkola, Lisa Ljungman, Lena Ring, Malin Ander, Teolinda Toft, Kata Bordas, Malin Fridlund, Martin Cernvall, Emma Hovén, Anna Wikman, Tove Hasselblad, Kim Einhorn, Annika Lindahl Norberg, Sandra Waara, Sanne Mattsson, Ylva Hägg Sylvén, Fabian Holmberg, Ian Horne, Hafijur Mohammad Rahman, Mudassir Imran Mustafa, Ronnie Pingel, Ulrika Winblad, David Isaksson, Mio Fredriksson and Linda Moberg.

I also thank my wife, my children and my mother for the endless love and support I received. Without you this would not have been possible.

I also acknowledge the contribution from the U-CARE research program and the Medical Faculty at Uppsala University, entities which together funded my research.

I am also thankful to Anna Maria Lundins Stipendienämnd who provided grants on several occasions enabling me to conduct field studies and present my work.

And last but not least, I thank all the tax payers in Sweden who indirectly funded my research and made my studies possible.

References

- 1. Grol R. Successes and failures in the implementation of evidence-based guidelines for clinical practice. Med Care. 2001;39:II46–54.
- McGlynn EA, Asch SM, Adams J, Keesey J, Hicks J, DeCristofaro A, et al. The quality of health care delivered to adults in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:2635–45.
- 3. Gustafsson I, Hvelplund A, Hansen K, Galatius S, Madsen M, Skov Jensen J, et al. Underuse of an invasive strategy for patients with diabetes with acute coronary syndrome: a nationwide study. Open Heart. 2015;2. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2014-000165
- 4. Socialstyrelsen, Sveriges kommuner och landsting. Öppna jämförelser av hälso- och sjukvårdens kvalitet och effektivitet: jämförelser mellan landsting. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen och Sveriges kommuner och landsting; 2012.
- 5. Hulscher ME, Grol RP, van der Meer JW. Antibiotic prescribing in hospitals: a social and behavioural scientific approach. Lancet Infect Dis. 2010;10:167–75.
- 6. O'Boyle CA, Henly SJ, Larson E. Understanding adherence to hand hygiene recommendations: the theory of planned behavior. Am J Infect Control. 2001;29:352–60.
- 7. Saint S, Bartoloni A, Virgili G, Mannelli F, Fumagalli S, di Martino P, et al. Marked variability in adherence to hand hygiene: a 5-unit observational study in Tuscany. Am J Infect Control. 2009;37:306–10.
- 8. Pittet D. Improving compliance with hand hygiene in hospitals. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2000;21:381–6.
- 9. Larson EL, Quiros D, Lin SX. Dissemination of the CDC's hand hygiene guideline and impact on infection rates. Am J Infect Control. 2007;35:666–75.
- Huis A, Schoonhoven L, Grol R, Donders R, Hulscher M, van Achterberg T. Impact of a team and leaders-directed strategy to improve nurses' adherence to hand hygiene guidelines: a cluster randomised trial. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50:464–74.
- 11. Sociadepartementet. Lag om rätten till arbetstagares uppfinningar. SFS 1949:345. Stockholm: Svensk författningssamling; 1949.
- 12. van de Ven AH, Polley DE, Garud R, Venkataraman S. The innovation journey. New York: Oxford University Press; 1999.
- 13. Cannon T. Corporate responsibility: a textbook on business ethics, governance, environment: roles and responsibilities. London: Pitman; 1994.
- Munro R. Alingment and identity work: the study of accounts and accountability. In: Munro R, Mouritsen J, editors. Accountability: power, ethos & the technologies of managing. London: International Thomson Business Press; 1996. p. 1-19
- 15. Jackall R. Moral mazes: the world of corporate managers. 20th ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2009.
- 16. Bovens M. The quest for responsibility: accountability and citizenship in complex organisations. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1998.

- 17. Waterman RW, Meier KJ. Principal-agent models: an expansion? J Public Adm Res Theory. 1998;8:173–202.
- 18. Miller GJ. The political evolution of principal-agent models. Annu Rev Polit Sci. 2005;8:203–25.
- Cabana MD, Rand CS, Powe NR, Wu AW, Wilson MH, Abboud PA, et al. Why don't physicians follow clinical practice guidelines? a framework for improvement. JAMA. 1999;282:1458–65.
- Grimshaw JM, Thomas RE, MacLennan G, Fraser C, Ramsay CR, Vale L, et al. Effectiveness and efficiency of guideline dissemination and implementation strategies. Heal Technol Assess. 2004;8:1–72.
- 21. Hermens RPMG, Hak E, Hulscher MEJL, Mulder J, Braspenning JCC, Grol RPTM. Do general practices adhere to organizational guidelines for effective cervical cancer screening? Fam Pract. 1998;15:112–8.
- 22. Lugtenberg M, Zegers-van Schaick JM, Westert GP, Burgers JS. Why don't physicians adhere to guideline recommendations in practice? an analysis of barriers among Dutch general practitioners. Implement Sci. 2009;4. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-54.
- 23. Sangster-Gormley E, Martin-Misener R, Downe-Wamboldt B, Dicenso A. Factors affecting nurse practitioner role implementation in Canadian practice settings: an integrative review. J Adv Nurs. 2011;67:1178–90.
- 24. Squires JE, Estabrooks CA, Gustavsson P, Wallin L. Individual determinants of research utilization by nurses: a systematic review update. Implement Sci. 2011;6. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-1
- 25. Paquay L, Wouters R, Defloor T, Buntinx F, Debaillie R, Geys L. Adherence to pressure ulcer prevention guidelines in home care: a survey of current practice. J Clin Nurs. 2008;17:627–36.
- 26. Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. Milbank Q. 2004;82:581–629.
- 27. Bovens M. Analysing and Assessing Accountability: A Conceptual Framework. Eur Law J. 2007;13:447–68.
- Flottorp SA, Oxman AD, Krause J, Musila NR, Wensing M, Godycki-Cwirko M, et al. A checklist for identifying determinants of practice: a systematic review and synthesis of frameworks and taxonomies of factors that prevent or enable improvements in healthcare professional practice. Implement Sci. 2013;8. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-8-35
- 29. Rogers EM. Diffusion of innovations. London: Free Press; 2003.
- 30. Damanpour F. Organizational innovation: a meta analysis of effects of determinants and moderators. Acad Manag J. 1991;34:555–90.
- 31. Quintane ER, Casselman MR, Reiche S, Nylund PA. Innovation as a knowledge-based outcome. J Knowl Manag. 2011;15:928–47.
- 32. Garcia R, Calantone R. A critical look at technological innovation typology and innovativeness terminology: a literature review. J Prod Innov Manag. 2002;19:110–32.
- 33. Abernathy WJ, Utterback JM. Patterns of industrial innovation. Technol Rev. 1978;80:1–9.
- 34. Adner R, Levinthal D. Demand heterogeneity and technology evolution: implications for product and process innovation. Manage Sci. 2001;47:611–28.
- 35. Boone J. Competitive pressure: the effects on investments in product and process innovation. RAND J Econ. 2000;31:549–69.
- 36. Birkinshaw J, Hamel G, Mol MJ. Management innovation. Acad Manag Rev. 2008;33:825–45.

- 37. Kimberly JR, Evanisko MJ. Organizational innovation: the influence of individual, organizational, and contextual factors on hospital adoption of technological and administrative innovations. Acad Manag J. 1981;24:689–713.
- Henderson RM, Clark KB. Architectural innovation: the reconfiguration of existing product technologies and the failure of established firms. Adm Sci Q. 1990;35:9–30.
- 39. Ettlie JE, Bridges WP, O'Keefe RD. Organization strategy and structural differences for radical versus incremental innovation. Manage Sci. 1984;30:682–95.
- 40. Dewar RD, Dutton JE. The adoption of radical and incremental innovations: an empirical analysis. Manage Sci. 1986;32:1422–33.
- 41. Godoe H. Innovation regimes, R&D and radical innovations in telecommunications. Res Policy. 2000;29:1033–46.
- 42. Christensen CM. The innovator's dilemma: when new technologies cause great firms to fail. Boston: Harvad Business Review Press; 2013.
- 43. Green SG, Gavin MB, Aiman-Smith L. Assessing a multidimensional measure of radical technological innovation. IEEE Trans Eng Manag. 1995;42:203–14.
- 44. Belloso A, Chidambaram A, Morar P, Timms MS. Coblation tonsillectomy versus dissection tonsillectomy: postoperative hemorrhage. Laryngoscope. 2003;113:2010–3.
- 45. Younis RT, Lazar RH. History and current practice of tonsillectomy. Laryngoscope. 2002;112:3–5.
- 46. Titov N. Status of computerized cognitive behavioural therapy for adults. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2007;41:95–114.
- 47. Lorig KR, Ritter PL, Laurent DD, Plant K. Internet-based chronic disease selfmanagement: a randomized trial. Med Care. 2006;44:964–71.
- Evangelista R, Vezzani A. The economic impact of technological and organizational innovations. A firm-level analysis. Res Policy. 2010;39:1253– 63.
- 49. Battisti G, Stoneman P. How innovative are UK firms? evidence from the fourth UK community innovation survey on synergies between technological and organizational innovations. Br J Manag. 2010;21:187–206.
- 50. Adner R. Match your innovation strategy to your innovation ecosystem. Harv Bus Rev. 2006;84:98–107.
- 51. Greve HR, Taylor A. Innovations as catalysts for organizational change: shifts in organizational cognition and search. Adm Sci Q. 2000;45:54–80.
- 52. Obstfeld D. Social networks, the tertius iungens orientation, and involvement in innovation. Adm Sci Q. 2005;50:100–30.
- Axtell CM, Holman DJ, Unsworth KL, Wall TD, Waterson PE, Harrington E. Shopfloor innovation: facilitating the suggestion and implementation of ideas. J Occup Organ Psychol. 2000;73:265–85.
- 54. Edquist C, Johnson B. Institutions and organizations in systems of innovation. In: Edquist C, editor. Systems of innovation: technologies, institutions, and organizations. London: Pinter; 1997.
- 55. Clark J, Guy K. Innovation and competitiveness: a review: practitioners' forum. Technol Anal Strateg Manag. 1998;10:363–95.
- 56. Clarysse B, Moray N. A process study of entrepreneurial team formation: the case of a research-based spin-off. J Bus Ventur. 2004;19:55–79.
- 57. Rothwell R. Towards the fifth-generation innovation process. Int Mark Rev. 1994;11:7–31.

- 58. Clarysse B, Wright M, Lockett A, Van de Velde E, Vohora A. Spinning out new ventures: a typology of incubation strategies from European research institutions. J Bus Ventur. 2005;20:183–216.
- 59. Grol R, Wensing M. Implementation of change in health care: a complex problem. In: Grol R, Wensing M, Eccles M, editors. Improving patient care: the implementation of change in health care. 2nd ed. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell; 2013. p. 3–17.
- 60. Rogers EM. Diffusion of Innovations. Glencoe: Free Press; 1962.
- 61. Grimshaw JM, Shirran L, Thomas R, Mowatt G, Fraser C, Bero L, et al. Changing provider behavior: an overview of systematic reviews of interventions. Med Care. 2001;39:II2-45.
- 62. Eccles M, Grimshaw J, Walker A, Johnston M, Pitts N. Changing the behavior of healthcare professionals: the use of theory in promoting the uptake of research findings. J Clin Epidemiol. 2005;58:107–12.
- 63. Grimshaw J, Eccles M, Tetroe J. Implementing clinical guidelines: current evidence and future implications. J Contin Educ Heal Prof. 2004;24:S31-7.
- 64. Abraham C, Michie S. A taxonomy of behavior change techniques used in interventions. Heal Psychol. 2008;27:379–87.
- 65. Kok G, Gottlieb NH, Peters G-JY, Mullen PD, Parcel GS, Ruiter RAC, et al. A taxonomy of behaviour change methods: an intervention mapping approach. Health Psychol Rev. 2016;10:297–312.
- 66. Bartholomew LK, Parcel GS, Kok G, Gottlieb NH, Fernández ME. Planning health promotion programs: an intervention mapping approach. 3rd ed. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2011.
- 67. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: the exercise of control. New York: W. H. Freeman; 1997.
- 68. Fixsen DL, Naoom SF, Blase KA, Friedman RM, Wallace F. Implementation research: a synthesis of the literature. Tampa: University of South Florida, Louise de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, The National Implementation Research Network; 2005.
- 69. Kitson A, Harvey G, McCormack B. Enabling the implementation of evidence based practice: a conceptual framework. Qual Heal Care. 1998;7:149–58.
- 70. Harvey G, Kitson A. PARIHS revisited: from heuristic to integrated framework for the successful implementation of knowledge into practice. Implement Sci. 2016;11. doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0398-2
- Baskerville NB, Liddy C, Hogg W. Systematic review and meta-analysis of practice facilitation within primary care settings. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10:63– 74.
- 72. Dogherty EJ, Harrison MB, Baker C, Graham ID. Following a natural experiment of guideline adaptation and early implementation: a mixed-methods study of facilitation. Implement Sci. 2012;7. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-9
- 73. O'Brien MA, Rogers S, Jamtvedt G, Oxman AD, Odgaard-Jensen J, Kristoffersen DT, et al. Educational outreach visits: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes (Review). Cochrane database Syst Rev. 2007. (Issue 4. Art. No.: CD000409).
- 74. Doumit G, Gattellari M, Grimshaw J, O'Brien MA. Local opinion leaders: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007. (Issues 1. Art. No.: CD000125).
- 75. von Hippel E. Lead users: a source of novel product concepts. Manage Sci. 1986;32:791–805.

- 76. Flodgren G, Parmelli E, Doumit G, Gattellari M, O'Brien MA, Grimshaw J, et al. Local opinion leaders: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011. (Issue 8. Art. No.: CD000125).
- 77. von Hippel E. Democratizing innovation: the evolving phenomenon of user innovation. J für Betriebswirtschaft. 2005;55:63–78.
- 78. Urban GL, von Hippel E. Lead user analyses for the development of new industrial products. Manage Sci. 1988;34:569–82.
- 79. Herstatt C, von Hippel E. From experience: developing new product concepts via the lead user method: a case study in a "low-tech" field. J Prod Innov Manag. 1992;9:213–21.
- 80. Lilien GL, Morrison PD, Searls K, Sonnack M, von Hippel E. Performance assessment of the lead user idea-generation process for new product development. Manage Sci. 2002;48:1042–59.
- 81. Morrison PD, Roberts JH, Midgley DF. The nature of lead users and measurement of leading edge status. Res Policy. 2004;33:351–62.
- 82. Olson EL, Bakke G. Implementing the lead user method in a high technology firm: a longitudinal study of intentions versus actions. J Prod Innov Manag. 2001;18:388–95.
- 83. Schumpeter JA. The theory of economic development: an inquiry into profits, capital, credit, interest, and the business cycle. Cambridge: Harvard University Press; 1934.
- 84. Green LW, Glasgow RE, Atkins D, Stange K. Making evidence from research more relevant, useful, and actionable in policy, program planning, and practice: slips "twixt cup and lip." Am J Prev Med. 2009;37:S187–91.
- Holmes BJ, Schellenberg M, Schell K, Scarrow G. How funding agencies can support research use in healthcare: an online province-wide survey to determine knowledge translation training needs. Implement Sci. 2014;9. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-9-71
- 86. Bekker M, van Egmond S, Wehrens R, Putters K, Bal R. Linking research and policy in Dutch healthcare: infrastructure, innovations and impacts. Evid Policy. 2010;6:237–53.
- Graham ID, Tetroe JM. Getting evidence into policy and practice: perspective of a health research funder. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2009;18:46– 50.
- Kerner JF. Knowledge translation versus knowledge integration: a "funder's" perspective. J Contin Educ Health Prof. 2006;26:72–80.
- Holmes B, Scarrow G, Schellenberg M. Translating evidence into practice: the role of health research funders. Implement Sci. 2012;7. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-39
- 90. Lomas J. Using 'linkage and exchange' to move research into policy at a Canadian foundation. Health Aff. 2000;19:236–40.
- 91. Wensing M, Bal R, Friele R. Knowledge implementation in healthcare practice: a view from the Netherlands. BMJ Qual Saf. 2012;21:439–42.
- 92. Smits PA, Denis J-L. How research funding agencies support science integration into policy and practice: an international overview. Implement Sci. 2014;9. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-9-28
- 93. Tetroe JM, Graham ID, Foy R, Robinson N, Eccles MP, Wensing M, et al. Health research funding agencies' support and promotion of knowledge translation: an international study. Milbank Q. 2008;86:125–55.
- 94. Nilsen P. Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. Implement Sci. 2015;10. 10.1186/s13012-015-0242-0
- 95. Oliver K, Innvar S, Lorenc T, Woodman J, Thomas J. A systematic review of barriers to and facilitators of the use of evidence by policymakers. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-2
- 96. Innvaer S, Vist G, Trommald M, Oxman A. Health policy-makers' perceptions of their use of evidence: a systematic review. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2002;7:239–44.
- 97. Kor YY. Experience-based top management team competence and sustained growth. Organ Sci. 2003;14:707–19.
- Carpenter MA, Sanders WmG, Gregersen HB. Bundling human capital with organizational context: the impact of international assignment experience on multinational firm performance and CEO pay. Acad Manag J. 2001;44:493– 511.
- 99. Dyke LS, Fischer EM, Reuber AR. An inter-industry examination of the impact of owner experience on firm performance. J Small Bus Manag. 1992;30:72–87.
- 100. Boehm DN, Hogan T. 'A jack of all trades': The role of PIs in the establishment and management of collaborative networks in scientific knowledge commercialisation. J Technol Transf. 2014;39:134–49.
- 101. Wright M, Clarysse B, Lockett A, Knockaert M. Mid-range universities' linkages with industry: knowledge types and the role of intermediaries. Res Policy. 2008;37:1205–23.
- 102. Jensen R, Thursby M. Proofs and prototypes for sale: the licensing of university inventions. Am Econ Rev. 2001;91:240–59.
- 103. Lissoni F. Intellectual property and university-industry technology transfer. In: Gallouj F, Rubalcaba L, Windrum P, editors. Public-private innovation networks in services. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing LTD; 2013. p. 164–89.
- 104. Lockett A, Wright M. Resources, capabilities, risk capital and the creation of university spin-out companies. Res Policy. 2005;34:1043–57.
- 105. Rasmussen E, Borch OJ. University capabilities in facilitating entrepreneurship: a longitudinal study of spin-off ventures at mid-range universities. Res Policy. 2010;39:602–12.
- 106. Festel G. Academic spin-offs, corporate spin-outs and company internal startups as technology transfer approach. J Technol Transf. 2013;38:454–70.
- 107. Hayter CS. Harnessing university entrepreneurship for economic growth: factors of success among university spin-offs. Econ Dev Q. 2013;27:18–28.
- 108. Lerner J. The university and the start-up: lessons from the past two decades. J Technol Transf. 2004;30:49–56.
- 109. Friedland R, Alford R. Bringing society back in: symbols, practices and institutional contradictions. In: Powell WW, DiMaggio PJ, editors. The new institutionalism in organizational analysis. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1991. p. 232–66.
- 110. Greenwood R, Raynard M, Kodeih F, Micelotta ER, Lounsbury M. Institutional complexity and organizational responses. Acad Manag Ann. 2011;5:317–71.
- 111. Farnstrand Damsgaard E, Thursby MC. University entrepreneurship and professor privilege. Ind Corp Chang. 2013;22:183–218.
- 112. Teece DJ. Profiting from technological innovation: implications for integration, collaboration, licensing and public policy. Res Policy. 1986;15:285–305.
- 113. Murray F. The oncomouse that roared: hybrid exchange strategies as a source of distinction at the boundary of overlapping institutions. Am J Sociol. 2010;116:341–88.

- 114. Thornton PH, Ocasio W. Institutional logics and the historical contingency of power in organizations: executive succession in the higher education publishing industry, 1958-1990. Am J Sociol. 1999;105:801–43.
- 115. Thornton P, Ocasio W, Lounsbury M. The institutional logics perspective: a new approach to culture, structure and process. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- 116. Thornton P., Ocasio W. Institutional logics. In: Greenwood R, Oliver C, Sahlin K, Suddaby R, editors. The sage handbook of organizational institutionalism. Thousand Oaks: Sage; 2008. p. 99–128.
- 117. Kraatz MS, Block ES. Organizational implications of institutional pluralism. In: Greenwood R, Oliver C, Sahlin K, Suddaby R, editors. The sage handbook of organizational institutionalism. London: Sage; 2008. p. 243–75.
- 118. Blumenthal D, Campbell EG, Anderson MS, Causino N, Seashore Louis K. Withholding research results in academic life science: evidence from a national survey of faculty. JAMA. 1997;277:1224–8.
- 119. Campbell EG, Weissman JS, Causino N, Blumenthal D. Data withholding in academic medicine: characteristics of faculty denied access to research results and biomaterials. Res Policy. 2000;29:303–12.
- 120. Stern S. Do scientists pay to be scientists? Manage Sci. 2004;50:835-53.
- 121. Ambos T, Mäkelä K, Birkinshaw J, D'Este P. When does university research get commercialized? creating ambidexterity in research institutions. J Manage. 2008;45:1424–47.
- 122. Sauermann H, Stephan P. Conflicting logics? a multidimensional view of industrial and academic science. Organ Sci. 2013;24:889–909.
- 123. Owen-Smith J, Powell WW. Knowledge networks as channels and conduits: the effects of spillovers in the Boston biotechnology community. Organ Sci. 2004;15:5–21.
- 124. Smith Hughes S. Making dollars out of DNA: the first major patent in biotechnology and the commercialization of molecular biology. Isis. 2001;92:541–75.
- 125. Zucker LG, Darby MR, Armstrong JS. Commercializing knowledge: university science, knowledge capture, and firm performance in biotechnology. Manage Sci. 2002;48:138–53.
- 126. Kerr C. The uses of the university. Cambridge: Harvard university press; 1963.
- 127. Lounsbury M. Institutional transformation and status mobility: the professionalization of the field of finance. Acad Manag J. 2002;45:255–66.
- 128. Rao H, Monin P, Durand R. Institutional change in toque ville: nouvelle cuisine as an identity movement in french gastronomy. Am J Sociol. 2003;108:795–843.
- 129. Thornton PH. The rise of the corporation in a craft industry: conflict and conformity in institutional logics. Acad Manag J. 2002;45:81–101.
- 130. Zajac EJ, Westphal JD. The social construction of market value: institutionalization and learning perspectives on stock market reactions. Am Sociol Rev. 2004;69:433–57.
- 131. Goodrick E, Reay T. Constellations of institutional logics: changes in the professional work of pharmacists. Work Occup. 2011;38:372–416.
- 132. Waldorff SB, Reay T, Goodrick E. A tale of two countries: how different constellations of logics impact action. In: Lounsbury M, Boxenbaum E, editors. Institutional logics in action (Research in the sociology of organizations, vol 39A). Emerald Group Publishing Limited; 2013. p. 99–129.
- 133. Binder A. For love and money: organizations' creative responses to multiple environmental logics. Theory Soc. 2007;36:547–71.

- 134. Smets M, Jarzabkowski P, Burke GT, Spee P. Reinsurance trading in Lloyd's of London: balancing conflicting-yet-complementary logics in practice. Acad Manag J. 2015;58:932–70.
- 135. Smets M, Jarzabkowski P. Reconstructing institutional complexity in practice: a relational model of institutional work and complexity. Hum Relations. 2013;66:1279–309.
- 136. Tracey P, Phillips N, Jarvis O. Bridging institutional entrepreneurship and the creation of new organizational forms: a multilevel model. Organ Sci. 2011;22:60–80.
- 137. Battilana J, Dorado S. Building sustainable hybrid organizations: the case of commercial microfinance organizations. Acad Manag J. 2010;53:1419–40.
- 138. Besharov M, Smith W. Multiple institutional logics in organizations: explaining their varied nature and implications. Acad Manag Rev. 2014;39:364–81.
- 139. D'Aunno T, Sutton RI, Price RH. Isomorphism and external support in conflicting institutional environments: a study of drug abuse treatment units. Acad Manag J. 1991;34:636–61.
- 140. Dunn MB, Jones C. Institutional logics and institutional pluralism: the contestation of care and science logics in medical education, 1967–2005. Adm Sci Q. 2010;55:114–49.
- 141. Barley SR. Coalface institutionalism. In: Greenwood R, Oliver C, Sahlin-Andersson K, Suddaby R, editors. The sage handbook of organizational institutionalism. London: Sage; 2008. p. 491–518.
- 142. Powell WW, Colyvas JA. Microfoundations of institutional theory. In: Greenwood R, Oliver C, Sahlin K, Suddaby R, editors. The sage handbook of organizational institutionalism. Thousand Oaks: Sage; 2008. p. 276–98.
- 143. Pache AC, Santos F. Embedded in hybrid contexts: how individuals in organizations respond to competing institutional logics. In: Lounsbury M, Boxenbaum E, editors. Institutional logics in action, Part B (Research in the sociology of organizations, vol 39). Emerald Group Publishing Limited; 2013. p. 3–35.
- 144. Jones C, Maoret M, Massa FG, Svejenova S. Rebels with a cause: formation, contestation, and expansion of the de novo category "modern architecture," 1870–1975. Organ Sci. 2012;23:1523–45.
- 145. Battilana J, Lee M. Advancing research on hybrid organizing insights from the study of social enterprises. Acad Manag Ann. 2014;8:397–441.
- 146. Zilber TB. Institutionalization as an interplay between actions, meanings, and actors: the case of a rape crisis center in Israel. Acad Manag J. 2002;45:234– 54.
- 147. Almandoz J. Arriving at the starting line: the impact of community and financial logics on new banking ventures. Acad Manag J. 2012;55:1381–406.
- 148. Townley B. The institutional logic of performance appraisal. Organ Stud. 1997;18:261-85.
- 149. Reay T, Hinings CR. The recomposition of an organizational field: health care in Alberta. Organ Stud. 2005;26:351–84.
- 150. Powell WW, Owen-Smith J, Colyvas JA. Innovaton and emulation: lessons from American universities in selling private rights to public knowledge. Minerva. 2007;45:121–42.
- 151. Clarysse B, Wright M, Lockett A, Mustar P, Knockaert M. Academic spinoffs, formal technology transfer and capital raising. Ind Corp Chang. 2007;16:609–40.

- 152. Siegel DS, Waldman DA, Atwater LE, Link AN. Toward a model of the effective transfer of scientific knowledge from academicians to practitioners: qualitative evidence from the commercialization of university technologies. J Eng Technol Manag. 2004;21:115–42.
- 153. Siegel DS, Waldman DA, Atwater LE, Link AN. Commercial knowledge transfers from universities to firms: improving the effectiveness of university-industry collaboration. J High Technol Manag Res. 2003;14:111–33.
- 154. Siegel DS, Veugelers R, Wright M. Technology transfer offices and commercialization of university intellectual property: performance and policy implications. Oxford Rev Econ Policy. 2007;23:640–60.
- Swamidass PM, Vulasa V. Why university inventions rarely produce income? bottlenecks in university technology transfer. J Technol Transf. 2009;34:343– 63.
- 156. Greenbaum D, Scott C. Hochschullehrerprivileg-a modern incarnation of the professor's privilege to promote university to industry technology transfer. Sci Technol Soc. 2010;15:55–76.
- 157. Litan RE, Mitchell L, Reedy EJ. Commercializing university innovations: alternative approaches. In: Jaffe AB, Lerner J, Stern S, editors. Innovation policy and the economy, Volume 8. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2007. p. 31–57.
- 158. Bøllingtoft A. The bottom-up business incubator: leverage to networking and cooperation practices in a self-generated, entrepreneurial-enabled environment. Technovation. 2012;32:304–15.
- Vanderstraeten J, Matthyssens P. Service-based differentiation strategies for business incubators: exploring external and internal alignment. Technovation. 2012;32:656–70.
- 160. Lai WH, Lin CC. Constructing business incubation service capabilities for tenants at post-entrepreneurial phase. J Bus Res. 2015;68:2285–9.
- 161. Bergek A, Norrman C. Incubator best practice: a framework. Technovation. 2008;28:20–8.
- Hackett SM, Dilts DM. A systematic review of business incubation research. J Technol Transf. 2004;29:55–82.
- 163. Patton D, Warren L, Bream D. Elements that underpin high-tech business incubation processes. J Technol Transf. 2009;34:621–36.
- 164. North DC. Institutions, institutional change and economic performance. New York: Cambridge University Press; 1990.
- 165. Williamson OE. The new institutional economics: taking stock, looking ahead. J Econ Lit. 2000;38:595–613.
- 166. Coase RH. The New Institutional Economics. J Institutional Theor Econ. 1984;140:229–31.
- 167. Goldfarb B, Henrekson M. Bottom-up versus top-down policies towards the commercialization of university intellectual property. Res Policy. 2003;32:639–58.
- 168. Arrow K. Economic welfare and the allocation of resources for invention. In: Nelson R, editor. The rate and direction of inventive activity. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 1962. p. 609–26.
- 169. Shane S. Selling university technology: patterns from MIT. Manage Sci. 2002;48:122–37.
- 170. Anton JJ, Yao DA. Expropriation and inventions: appropriable rents in the absence of property rights. Am Econ Rev. 1994;84:190–209.
- 171. Arora A, Ceccagnoli M. Patent protection, complementary assets, and firms' incentives for technology licensing. Manage Sci. 2006;52:293–308.

- 172. Mansfield E. Patents and innovation: an empirical study. Manage Sci. 1986;32:173-81.
- 173. Cohen WM, Nelson RR, Walsh JP. Protecting their intellectual assets: appropriability conditions and why U.S. manufacturing firms patent (or not). National Bureau of Economic Research; 2000.
- 174. Levin RC, Klevorick AK, Nelson RR, Winter SG, Gilbert R, Griliches Z. Appropriating the returns from industrial research and development. Brookings Pap Econ Act. 1987;3:783–831.
- 175. Geuna A, Nesta LJJ. University patenting and its effects on academic research: the emerging European evidence. Res Policy. 2006;35:790–807.
- 176. Verspagen B. University research, intellectual property rights and European innovation systems. J Econ Surv. 2006;20:607–32.
- 177. Thursby J, Fuller AW, Thursby M. US faculty patenting: inside and outside the university. Res Policy. 2009;38:14–25.
- 178. della Malva A, Lissoni F, Llerena P. Institutional change and academic patenting: French universities and the innovation act of 1999. J Evol Econ. 2013;23:211–39.
- 179. Calderini M, Franzoni C, Vezzulli A. If star scientists do not patent: the effect of productivity, basicness and impact on the decision to patent in the academic world. Res Policy. 2007;36:303–19.
- 180. Fabrizio KR, Di Minin A. Commercializing the laboratory: faculty patenting and the open science environment. Res Policy. 2008;37:914–31.
- 181. Henderson R, Jaffe AB, Trajtenberg M. Universities as a source of commercial technology: a detailed analysis of university patenting, 1965–1988. Rev Econ Stat. 1998;80:119–27.
- 182. Kenney M, Patton D. Reconsidering the Bayh-Dole Act and the current university invention ownership model. Res Policy. 2009;38:1407–22.
- 183. Valentin F, Jensen RL. Effects on academia-industry collaboration of extending university property rights. J Technol Transf. 2007;32:251–76.
- 184. Dechenaux E, Thursby J, Thursby M. Inventor moral hazard in university licensing: the role of contracts. Res Policy. 2011;40:94–104.
- 185. Merrill SA, Mazza A-M, editors. Managing university intellectual property in the public interest. Washington D.C.: The National Academy Press; 2011.
- 186. OECD. Turning science into business: patenting and licensing at public research organisations. Paris: OECD; 2003.
- 187. Kenney M, Patton D. Does inventor ownership encourage university researchderived entrepreneurship? a six university comparison. Res Policy. 2011;40:1100–12.
- 188. Kenney M, Patton D. Bayh-Dole and alternative university technology transfer regimes. In: Assimakopoulos DG, Carayannis EG, Dossani R, editors. Knowledge perspectives of new product development: a comparative approach. New York: Springer; 2012. p. 253–68.
- Henrekson M, Rosenberg N. Designing efficient institutions for science-based entrepreneurship: lesson from the US and Sweden. J Technol Transf. 2001;26:207–31.
- 190. Åstebro T, Braunerhjelm P, Broström A. Does academic entrepreneurship pay? Ind Corp Chang. 2013;22:281–311.
- 191. Breznitz SM. Improving or impairing? following technology transfer changes at the University of Cambridge. Reg Stud. 2011;45:463–78.
- 192. Geuna A, Rossi F. Changes to university IPR regulations in Europe and the impact on academic patenting. Res Policy. 2011;40:1068–76.

- 193. Lissoni F, Lotz P, Schovsbo J, Treccani A. Academic patenting and the professor's privilege: evidence on Denmark from the KEINS database. Sci Public Policy. 2009;36:595–607.
- 194. Mowery DC, Sampat BN. The Bayh-Dole Act of 1980 and university-industry technology transfer: a model for other OECD governments? In: Link AN, Scherer FM, editors. Essays in honor of Edwin Mansfield: the economics of R&D, innovation, and technological change. New York: Springer; 2005. p. 233–45.
- 195. Strauss A, Corbin J. Basics of qualitative research: techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage; 1998.
- 196. Creswell JW. Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among five approaches. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage; 2007.
- 197. Eisenhardt KM. Building theories from case study research. Acad Manag Rev. 1989;14:532–50.
- 198. Yin RK. Case study research: design and methods. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage; 2003.
- 199. Brantnell A, Baraldi E, van Achterberg T, Winblad U. Research funders' roles and perceived responsibilities in relation to the implementation of clinical research results: a multiple case study of Swedish research funders. Implement Sci. 2015;10. doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0290-5
- 200. Denzin N. The research act in sociology: a theoretical introduction to sociological methods. London: Butterworths; 1970.
- 201. Thomas G. Doing case study: abduction not induction, phronesis not theory. Qual Inq. 2010;16:575–82.
- 202. Dubois A, Gadde L-E. Systematic combining: an abductive approach to case research. J Bus Res. 2002;55:553-60.
- 203. Shah R, Goldstein SM, Unger BT, Henry TD. Explaining anomalous high performance in a health care supply chain. Decis Sci. 2008;39:759–89.
- 204. Gioia DA, Corley KG, Hamilton AL. Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research: notes on the Gioia methodology. Organ Res Methods. 2013;16:15–31.
- 205. Eisenhardt KM, Graebner ME. Theory building from cases: opportunities and challenges. Acad Manag J. 2007;50:25–32.
- 206. Weissert CS. Reluctant partners: the role of preferences, incentives, and monitoring in program compliance. J Public Adm Res Theory. 2001;11:435–53.
- 207. López-Acevedo G, Saavedra Chanduvi J, editors. Building better policies: nuts and bolts of government monitoring and evaluation systems. Washington D.C.: World Bank Publications; 2012.
- 208. Segone M, editor. Bridging the gap: the role of monitoring and evaluation in evidence-sased policy making. New York: UNICEF; 2010.
- 209. Socialdepartementet. Hälso- och sjukvårdslag SFS 1982:763. Svensk författningssamling, Stockholm; 1982.
- 210. Thompson DF. Moral responsibility of public officials: the problem of many hands. Am Polit Sci Rev. 1980;74:905–16.
- 211. Grimshaw JM, Eccles MP, Lavis JN, Hill SJ, Squires JE. Knowledge translation of research findings. Implement Sci. 2012;7. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-50
- 212. Brownson RC, Royer C, Ewing R, McBride TD. Researchers and policymakers: travelers in parallel universes. Am J Prev Med. 2006;30:164–72.

- 213. Elliott H. How are policy makers using evidence? models of research utilisation and local NHS policy making. J Epidemiol Community Heal. 2000;54:461–8.
- 214. Lavis J, Davies H, Oxman A, Denis J-L, Golden-Biddle K, Ferlie E. Towards systematic reviews that inform health care management and policy-making. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2005;10:35–48.
- 215. Bunn F, Sworn K. Strategies to promote the impact of systematic reviews on healthcare policy: a systematic review of the literature. Evid Policy A J Res Debate Pract. 2011;7:403–28.
- 216. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. 1991;50:179–211.
- 217. Godin G, Kok G. The theory of planned behavior: a review of its applications to health-related behaviors. Am J Heal Promot. 1996;11:87–98.
- 218. Shane SA. Acamedic entrepreneurship: university spinnoffs and wealth creation. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar; 2004.
- 219. Etzkowitz H, Webster A, Gebhardt C, Cantisano Terra BR. The future of the university and the university of the future: evolution of ivory tower to entrepreneurial paradigm. Res Policy. 2000;29:313–30.
- 220. Utbildningsdepartementet. Nyttiggörande av högskoleuppfinningar. SOU 2005:95. Stockholm: Utbildningsdepartementet; 2005.
- 221. Arora A, Fosfuri A. Licensing the market for technology. J Econ Behav Organ. 2003;52:277–95.
- 222. Gans JS, Hsu DH, Stern S. When does start-up innovation spur the gale of creative destruction? Rand J Econ. 2002;33:571–86.
- 223. Hertzfeld HR, Link AN, Vonortas NS. Intellectual property protection mechanisms in research partnerships. Res Policy. 2006;35:825–38.
- 224. Pressman L, Burgess R, Cook-Deegan RM, McCormack SJ, Nami-Wolk I, Soucy M, et al. The licensing of DNA patents by US academic institutions: an empirical survey. Nat Biotechnol. 2006;24:31–9.
- 225. Garber AM, Jones CI, Romer P. Insurance and incentives for medical innovation. Forum Health Econ Policy. 2006;9. doi: 10.2202/1558-9544.1006
- 226. Lorig K, Ritter PL, Pifer C, Werner P. Effectiveness of the chronic disease self-management program for persons with a serious mental illness: a translation study. Community Ment Health J. 2014;50:96–103.
- 227. Mattsson S, Alfonsson S, Carlsson M, Nygren P, Olsson E, Johansson B. U-CARE: Internet-based stepped care with interactive support and cognitive behavioral therapy for reduction of anxiety and depressive symptoms in cancer-a clinical trial protocol. BMC Cancer. 2013;13. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-414
- 228. Lorig KR, Ritter PL, Dost A, Plant K, Laurent DD, McNeil I. The expert patients programme online, a 1-year study of an internet-based self-management programme for people with long-term conditions. Chronic Illn. 2008;4:247–56.
- 229. Dixon-Woods M, Pronovost PJ. Patient safety and the problem of many hands. BMJ Qual Saf. 2016;25:485–8.
- 230. Kärreman D, Alvesson M. Cages in tandem: management control, social identity, and identification in a knowledge-intensive firm. Organization. 2004;11:149–75.
- 231. Alvesson M, Willmott H. Identity regulation as organizational control: producing the appropriate individual. J Manag Stud. 2002;39:619–44.
- 232. Ouchi WG. Markets, bureaucracies, and clans. Adm Sci Q. 1980;25:129-41.

- 233. Mintzberg H. Structure in fives: designing effective organizations. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall; 1993.
- 234. Thompson DF. Responsibility for failures of government: the problem of many hands. Am Rev Public Adm. 2014;44:259–73.
- 235. Sackett DL, Rosenberg WMC, Gray JAM, Haynes RB, Richardson WS. Evidence based medicine: what it is and what it isn't. BMJ. 1996;312. doi: 10.1136/bmj.312.7023.71
- 236. Hayes SC, Barlow DH, Nelson-Gray RO. The scientist practitioner: research and accountability in the age of managed care. 2nd ed. Needham Heights: Allyn & Bacon; 1999.
- 237. Cochrane LJ, Olson CA, Murray S, Dupuis M, Tooman T, Hayes S. Gaps between knowing and doing: understanding and assessing the barriers to optimal health care. J Contin Educ Health Prof. 2007;27:94–102.
- 238. Pronovost PJ, Berenholtz SM, Needham DM. Translating evidence into practice: a model for large scale knowledge translation. BMJ. 2008;337:963–5.
- 239. Stetler CB. Updating the Stetler Model of research utilization to facilitate evidence-based practice. Nurs Outlook. 2001;49:272–9.
- 240. Dunning D, Heath C, Suls JM. Flawed self-assessment: implications for health, education, and the workplace. Psychol Sci Public Interes. 2004;5:69–106.
- 241. Richter A, von Thiele Schwarz U, Lornudd C, Lundmark R, Mosson R, Hasson H. iLead—a transformational leadership intervention to train healthcare managers' implementation leadership. Implement Sci. 2016;11. doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0475-6
- 242. Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet. 2001;358:483–8.

Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis

Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine 1326

Editor: The Dean of the Faculty of Medicine

A doctoral dissertation from the Faculty of Medicine, Uppsala University, is usually a summary of a number of papers. A few copies of the complete dissertation are kept at major Swedish research libraries, while the summary alone is distributed internationally through the series Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine. (Prior to January, 2005, the series was published under the title "Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine".)



ACTA UNIVERSITATIS UPSALIENSIS UPPSALA 2017

Distribution: publications.uu.se urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-317934